
TOWN OF ORROCK 
REGULAR MONTHLY Meeting

Wednesday, July 24, 2024 7:00PM 
  

upcoming meeting of the Orrock Town Board of Supervisors. This document does not 
claim to be complete and is subject to change. 

This meeting is being recorded, for the sole purpose of aiding the township’s Clerk with 
transcription of the official minutes. 

1. CALL MEETING TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

2. APPROVAL OF JULY MEETING AGENDA

3. APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA
The Consent Agenda groups routine meeting discussion points and normal business decisions into a 
single agenda item. In so doing, the grouped items can be approved in one action, rather than 
through the filing of multiple motions.  For both Consent and Regular Agenda items, the same 
legal, financial, and policy evaluations are conducted and reported to the Town Board.  Any Board 
Supervisor can request an item be removed from the Consent Agenda and presented individually 
for consideration by the Town Board.
Review or approval of Treasurer’s Reports:
A. Routine Claims – Approve
B. Report of June Disbursements Not Paid via the Claims Process - Information
C. Payroll – July 2024 - Approve

4. SHERIFF'S REPORT
Sergeant Derek Barett

5. OPEN FORUM
Business presented during open forum will be limited to 3 minutes per person. The Board reserves 
the right to defer any action on business presented, during open forum. State your full submitted 
in writing for future Board consideration. Once your time is up, any further interaction will be 
initiated by the Board.

6. APPROVAL OF MEETING MINUTES
June Monthly Meeting

7. REGULAR BUSINESS
A. 2023 Audit Presentation – Schlenner Wenner – Discuss/Approve
B. Draft Mississippi River St. Cloud Comprehensive Watershed Management Plan for the Formal

60-day Period – Township Comments
C. I-75 Baldwin Township - Order Granting Incorporation - Information

8. ROADS
A. Tree Trimming RFQ – Discuss/Action
B. 2025 Spring Road Tour Tracking - Information

9. BOARD BUSINESS/UPDATES – COMMITTEE REPORTS
A. Adams

Disclaimer: The agenda has been prepared to provide information regarding an 



TOWN OF ORROCK 
REGULAR MONTHLY Meeting   

Wednesday, July 24, 2024 7:00PM 
  

   

Disclaimer: The agenda has been prepared to provide information regarding an 
upcoming meeting of the Orrock Town Board of Supervisors. This document does not 

claim to be complete and is subject to change. 
This meeting is being recorded, for the sole purpose of aiding the township’s Clerk with 

transcription of the official minutes. 

 

 

B. Ellinger 
C. Felber 
D. Goldsmith 
E. Hassett 

 
10. TREASURER BUSINESS 

A. Cash Control Statement and Investment Update - Approve 
B. Treasurer’s Report - Approve 
C. Report of May Sherburne State Bank Securities Pledge Validation - Review 

 
11. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

A. August Board Meeting – Wednesday, August 28th  @ 7PM 
B. Candidate Filing Dates - Tuesday, July 30th  through Tuesday, August 13th at 5PM 
C. Primary Election – Tuesday, August 13th – 7AM-8PM 
D. Sherburne County Free Mattress Recycling Event – September 7, 2024 – 9AM-1PM – Vonco II 

Landfill, 15301 140th Ave NW, Becker, MN 
E. CSAH 4 Detour (Work on bridge over St. Francis River) – Construction closure is scheduled 

begin on July 10th with completion set to be September 20th 
 

12. ADJOURMENT 



JUNE SHERIFF’S REPORT 4



Regular Meeting – Wednesday June 26, 2024 – 7:00PM 1 

The Orrock Township Board met in regular session, on Wednesday June 26, 2024 at 7PM at the Orrock Town Hall, 26401 – 
180th St. NW, Big Lake, Minnesota. 

In attendance were Chair Bryan Adams, Supervisors: Paul Ellinger, Anne Felber, Gary Goldsmith, Bob Hassett, Treasurer 
Janine Arnold and Clerk Chris Weber.  Also, in attendance were Deputy Geoff Dowty, Kevin Kruger – Township Engineer, 
three audience members and the Patriot News.   

A quorum was present, the meeting was called to order by Chair Bryan Adams, at 7:00PM and the Pledge of Allegiance to 
the United States of America was recited. 

Meeting Agenda Approval 
Motion/Second to accept the June meeting agenda as presented by: Ellinger/Hassett.  In favor: Adams, Ellinger, 

Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  
Motion prevailed, and the meeting proceeded in accordance with the agenda. 

Approval of Consent Agenda 
Treasurer’s Consent Items 

All treasurer’s items were electronically sent to the Board for review and were available for public review during the 
meeting. 

A. Routine Claims
The amount of June routine claims was $406,691.19.  
These claims will be retained as a part of the Official Minutes, which are available in the Clerk’s Office. 

B. Payroll Claims – June 2024

The June payroll claims were in the amount of $2,535.14. 
These payroll claims will be retained as a part of the Official Minutes, which are available in the Clerk’s Office. 

Motion/Second to approve the Consent Agenda Items listed above and as sent to the board by: 
Goldsmith/Hassett.  In favor: Adams, Ellinger, Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None. 

Regular Meeting Agenda 

Sheriff’s Report 
Deputy Geoff Dowty reported that there were 73 traffic stops in Orrock Township in May of 2024, compared to 58 

traffic stops in May of 2023.  There were 183 total calls for service in May of 2024 and 207 total calls for service in May of 
2023.  There were four vehicle vs. animal accidents and there was one death. 

Regular Meeting  
Wednesday June 26, 2024 - 7:00PM 

6



Regular Meeting – Wednesday June 26, 2024 – 7:00PM 2 

Open Forum 
Brad Rosnow, 14610 247th Ave NW, Zimmerman, MN, asked when will the roads be resurfaced in Harmony Village.  

Chair Adams replied that he will take a look at those roads. 

Approval of Meeting Minutes 
Motion/Second to approve the May Regular Minutes by: Ellinger/Hassett.  In favor: Ellinger, Felber, Goldsmith 

and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: Adams.  Motion Prevailed.  

Regular Business 
Bahr’s Haunted Acres Request for IUP – Special Event – Haunted Trail 

Bahr’s Haunted Acres is requesting an IUP (Interim Use Permit) for Occasional Special Event – Haunted Trail.  Mr. 
Bahr attended the meeting to answer any questions that the board had.  This IUP was originally brought to the township’s 
attention in 2023.  However, there were many violations that needed to be remedied before the IUP request could come 
to the board for comments.   

The solid waste violation has been closed.  Mr. Bahr needs to install his septic system.  The Sherburne County 
Building Official needs to work with Mr. Bahr on the buildings and they will need the state to inspect the electrical.  

Supervisor Goldsmith stated that he is in approval of this request, as the money raised goes to a good cause. 
The board recommended approval of the Bahr’s Haunted Acres Request for IUP – Special Event – Haunted Trail 

provided all county requirements are met. 

Resolution 2024-12 A Resolution Appointing Election Judges for 2024 Primary Election 
The board is required to appoint election judges at least 25 days prior to an election.  Clerk Weber presented 

Resolution 2024-12 A Resolution Appointing Election Judges for the 2024 Presidential Primary Election to be held on August 
13, 2024 for board consideration.  The appointments are contingent upon the election judge(s) completing the required 
training. 

Motion/Second to adopt Resolution 2024-12 A Resolution Appointing Election Judges for the 2024 Primary 
Election to be Held on August 13, 2024 by: Ellinger/Goldsmith.   In favor: Adams, Ellinger, Goldsmith and Hassett. 
Opposed: None.  Abstained: Felber.  Motion Prevailed. 

Resolution 2024-13 Resolution Accepting Donations 
Clerk Weber presented Resolution 2024-13 Resolution Accepting Donations to the board.  Bryan Adams hand-

crafted a frame for the township road map to be hung in the town hall. 
Motion/Second to adopt Resolution 2024-13 Resolution Accepting Donations by: Goldsmith/Ellinger.   In favor: 

Adams, Ellinger, Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  Motion Prevailed.  

Home Improvement Shop Request for a Letter from the Orrock Township Engineer is for Home to be 4.1 feet lower than 
Approved Elevations on PID #35-00512-0105, 27439 146th St – Discuss/Action 

On June 6, 2024 Clerk Weber and Kevin Kruger received a request from Home Improvement Shop to have 
the engineer determine if a new home on PID #35-00512-0105 in Aspen Meadows can be constructed 4.1 
feet lower than the approved elevation on the plat.  After discussing with Kevin Kruger and Bryan Adams, an 
escrow request was sent to Home Improvement Shop to cover any township costs associated with making 
such a determination. 

Bogart-Pederson provided a survey for the Ordinary High-Water Line on the property.  Bogard-Pederson ran a 
back-to-back 100 year for the wetland and found the following: the drainage area is approximately 93 acres, starting 
elevation of wetland is 954.00 feet and back-to-back 100-year elevation is 957.8 feet.  The property plan’s low floor/low 
opening is set at an elevation of 961.1 feet which gives about 3.3’ of freeboard from the lowest entrance of the home to 
where the water level is.  The approved plat has an elevation of 965.2 feet, which is 4.1 feet higher than the proposed 
elevation of 961.1 feet.  Kevin Kruger’s recommendation would be to approve this request to lower the elevation, as we 
normally require 1 or 2 feet of freeboard clearance.  



  

 

Regular Meeting – Wednesday June 26, 2024 – 7:00PM       3 
 

Chair Adams asked if rain events would affect the recommended elevation.  Kruger replied that rain events have 
changed, and every handful of years you will see an adjustment to the levels.  There would be no liability on the township 
for lowering the recommended level and Kevin does not foresee any issues with lowering the level.  Supervisor Felber 
asked if there would be a statement in his letter absolving the township of any liability.  Kevin replied that that is typically 
in the approval letter.   

Motion/Second to authorize Kevin Kruger to make a recommendation allowing the new home to be built 4.1 feet 
lower than the approved elevation on PID #35-00512-0105 in Aspen Meadows. by: Hassett/Goldsmith.   In favor: Adams, 
Ellinger, Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  Motion Prevailed.  
 
Proposed Amendment to Zoning Ord. Sec.17.5 Subsurface Sewage Treatment System (SSTS) 

Sherburne County Planning and Zoning Department is starting the process of updating the County Zoning 
Ordinance in light of the completion of the Comprehensive Land Use Plan.  The county is starting this process by updating 
State mandated ordinances such as Shoreland, Floodplain and Subsurface Sewage Treatment System (SSTS). 

The Sherburne County SSTS came into effect in 2011.  The county administers the SSTS program for all the 
townships excluding Becker Township and Baldwin Township.  The county also administers the SSTS program for the cities 
of Big Lake, Clear Lake and Princeton.  This will be a complete rewrite of the SSTS Ordinance. 

Chair Adams stated that the planning commission had reviewed the proposed amendment and had asked for 
clarification on a couple of items.  The county is working on those replies.  For SSTS management plans, there is and 
increased concern in Sherburne County due to the number of short-term rental properties around the lakes.  

The board agreed with the proposed ordinance amendment and asked that the county consider any 
recommendations of the planning commission.  

 
Liquor License Renewals 

Clerk Weber presented an application for Liquor License Renewal from M & A Liquor Sales, LLC DBA Sand Dunes 
Spirits for board consideration. 

Motion/Second to approve the Sand Dunes Spirits Liquor License Renewal by: Felber/Hassett.  In favor: Adams, 
Ellinger, Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  Motion Prevailed.  

 
Clerk Weber presented an application for Liquor License Renewal from Getaway Bar, LLC for board consideration. 
Motion/Second to approve the Getaway Bar, LLC Liquor License Renewal by: Felber/Goldsmith.  In favor: Adams, 

Ellinger, Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  Motion Prevailed.  
 
Minnesota State Demographer 2023 Population and Household Estimate 

The state demographer is required by law to produce annual population and household estimates for each 
of Minnesota's cities and townships.  The April 1, 2023, population and household estimate is 1,358 with an estimated 
population of 3,770. 
 
Landscaping Update 

The landscaping was installed on 6/19.  The $400 cost-share grant that the township will receive is to be certified 
to Sherburne SWCD.  Program participants are asked to maintain the prairie for a minimum of 10 years and allow 
Sherburne SWCD on-site inspections as requested (up to 1x per year).  Each program participant will receive a sign and 
post recognizing the project – to be installed on the edge of the planting at a mutually selected location.  

The oats have started to come up.  Franny Gerde will be monitoring the site to give any advice as to when to 
mow.  Any rocks that are in the landscaping will be removed when the area can be walked on. 

Motion/Second to authorize Clerk Weber to certify the cost-share amount to Sherburne SWCD by: 
Goldsmith/Hassett.  In favor: Adams, Ellinger, Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  
Motion Prevailed.  
 



  

 

Regular Meeting – Wednesday June 26, 2024 – 7:00PM       4 
 

Addition of Speed Limits to the May Meeting Agenda 
 Supervisor Felber wanted to get some clarification on what happened with the speed limits being added to the 
agenda at last month’s meeting.  After last month’s meeting, Felber received a message from a constituent asking her why 
the constituent had not been told the speed limits were going to be on the agenda.  The constituent had been told when a 
person was onsite that the item was going to be brought up at the May meeting.  Felber’s concern is that the meeting 
process was compromised, and she believes that the constituents had a right to speak on the subject in real time prior to 
the board deciding to pass a resolution designating 35MPH speed limit zones.  She also felt that if it was known that this 
item was going to be added to the agenda that the board should have been notified prior to the meeting. 
 Supervisor Ellinger stated that he is not as concerned about this as Felber seems to be.  Ellinger had contacted 
the clerk to tell her that he was waiting to see what the legislature had done before asking to have the item placed on the 
agenda.  Ellinger stated that he had been doing research and called the clerk and told her that he would notify her one 
way or another if he wanted the item on the agenda.  The clerk was notified at 4pm on the day of the meeting that 
Supervisor Ellinger planned to make a motion to add the item to the meeting agenda.  Ellinger stated that, at the October 
2023 meeting, the motion to adopt 35MPH speed limits failed on a 3-2 vote with the understanding that if the legislature 
did not pass speed limit legislation, this item would come back to the board for re-consideration.  Ellinger had requested 
that the item be added to the May agenda because the session was over and he wanted to get the signs ordered so that the 
township would have legally posted speed limits.  These speed limit posting requirements were set by the 2009 state 
legislature. 
 Supervisor Goldsmith stated that he agreed that certain routine items can be added to an agenda but that other 
items, such as this, should have been presented prior to the meeting so that the public could attend the meeting and speak 
about the topic. 
 
MATIT Insurance and Coverages 

The renewal insurance policy coverage and invoice have been received.  Clerk Weber recommended that the 
board review the coverage on the storage building.  The current coverage on the storage building is $70,094.00.  The 
cost to increase the coverage on the storage building to $100,000.00 would be $87.00 per year.  The current renewal cost 
for the storage building is $203.00 and the cost for $100,000.00 of coverage would be $290.00.  The coverage is effective 
on 7/1 and premiums are due on 8/15.  

There was discussion on the various coverages that the township has and as to whether or not there was enough 
coverage. 

Motion/Second to increase the insurance coverage on the storage building to $100,000.00 by: Goldsmith/Adams.  
In favor: Adams, Ellinger, Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  Motion Prevailed.  

Roads 
Possible Sinkhole on 256th Ave NW, North Side of Ann Lake 

On Friday, May 24th, Bob Hassett inspected a possible sinkhole near 16658 256th Ave. NW on the North side of 
Ann Lake.  Hassett stated that it looks like there are buried trees under the area.  The owner stated that he is concerned 
that the sinkhole may go into his yard as well.  Hassett stated that he cannot tell how long it will be before the problem 
endangers vehicles.  There was a sinkhole that was repaired in this spot in July 2020.  Supervisor Felber did not feel that 
the board should explore the sinkhole at this time.  The board agreed and will continue to monitor this potential sinkhole.  

 
Possible Sinkhole on 232nd Ave NW 
 Chair Bryan Adams noticed a possible sinkhole forming on 232nd Avenue NW.  There was a tree dug out of that 
road a couple years ago.  The board will monitor this potential sinkhole. 
 

The township is going to encounter more sinkholes in the future as, many years ago, roads were built over buried 
trees.  Those trees are now decaying and creating sinkholes. 
 



  

 

Regular Meeting – Wednesday June 26, 2024 – 7:00PM       5 
 

Curb Damage – Shores of Eagle Lake 
 On May 15, 2024, the Shores of Eagle Lake management company notified the clerk to damage to the curb in a 
center island in Shores of Eagle Lake.  Kevin Kruger reviewed the damage and recommended that the township repair the 
damaged curb to alleviate any further damage to that curb.  Darryl Waletzko patched the curb under his handyman 
contract.  The approximate cost to repair was $300.00. 

Motion/Second to authorize the repair of the curb in Shores of Eagle Lake by: Goldsmith/Adams.  In favor: 
Adams, Ellinger, Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  Motion Prevailed. 
 
Road Projects – Update / Pay Voucher 1 

Kevin Kruger presented pay voucher 1 from OMG Midwest/MN Paving in the amount of $329,593.20 for the street 
improvements project.  Kruger stated the majority of the project has been completed.  Some touch-up work may need to 
be completed. 

Motion/Second to approve the street improvements pay voucher number 1 from OMG Midwest/MN Paving in the 
amount of $329,593.20 and authorize the clerk to electronically sign pay voucher by: Goldsmith/Ellinger.  In favor: Adams, 
Ellinger, Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  Motion Prevailed. 

 
Roadside Dumping 

In the early morning on 6/10 the clerk received a call from Sherburne County notifying her that there was a 
sailboat dumped in the right-of-way on 233rd Ave NW near the South Sand Dunes trail head.  Darryl Waletzko was 
contacted to remove the item.  The item had to be taken to Vonco II landfill.  The cost to dispose of was $350, not 
including the costs for Darryl Waletzko to load and haul the item to Vonco II landfill. 
 
Tree Trimming Specs 
 Road Authority Bob Hassett will prepare the tree trimming specifications and request for proposal for approval at 
the July board meeting. 
 
Ann Lake Boat Landing – Dig a Trench to Divert Runoff into the Wetland 
 Road Authority Bob Hassett asked if the board would want to have Darryl Waletzko dig a trench at the Ann Lake 
boat landing to try to divert runoff into the wetland.  The board will wait for the road drainage study from WSB prior to 
determining any remediation actions. 

Supervisor Updates / Committee Reports 
 Supervisor Adams – received a call regarding a pile of dirt in the road right-of-way in Harmony Village.  The clerk 
will write a letter to the property owner.  Received a call from a property owner on 231st Avenue.  The property owner 
wants to widen his driveway.  Kevin Kruger stated that he would recommend a maximum driveway width of 24’.  The 
homeowner will need a permit and will need to replace the culvert.  Kevin Kruger has produced a Road Weight Limits 
Map.  The BLFD fire board staffing study was received from the consultant.  OSHA regulations are increasing for fire 
departments.  Felber stated she attended the meeting and that the consultant stated that they are still in flux with what 
those requirements are going to be.  The board will need to monitor any changes in costs for the Big Lake Fire Department 
as any changes in staffing would affect and probably increase the costs to Orrock Township for Big Lake Fire Department 
fire coverage. 

Supervisor Ellinger – Township Legal Seminar 
Supervisor Felber – Joint Powers board staffing study meeting, commissioner’s lunch on June 4th, constituent call 

regarding putting a solar farm on their property, multiple people called regarding CSAH4 bridge closing.  The ownership of 
warning sirens is going to be shifted to the townships.  

Supervisor Goldsmith – None 
Supervisor Hassett – asked when the drainage study would be received.  Kevin Kruger replied that the road 

drainage study report should be completed in the next couple of weeks. 



  

 

Regular Meeting – Wednesday June 26, 2024 – 7:00PM       6 
 

 
Treasurer’s Business 
Supplemental Claim 

Treasurer Arnold presented the board with a supplemental claim in the amount of $3,540.00.  This claim was for 
Erickson Asphalt Services’ costs to complete the pothole repairs. 

Motion/Second to approve the supplemental claim in the amount of $3,540.00 by: Goldsmith/Ellinger.  In favor: 
Adams, Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  Motion Prevailed. 

This claim will be retained as a part of the Official Minutes, which are available in the Clerk’s Office.  
 
Cash Control Statement 

Treasurer Arnold presented the Board with the Cash Control statement.  Ending cash balance after reconciling 
the books with the bank statements: $ 1,378,815.05.  This amount included 4M fund balance.  

Supervisor Ellinger asked that the treasurer research having a Sweep account at Sherburne State Bank.  
Supervisor Goldsmith stated that when he was treasurer, he did not want to have the authority to transfer money without 
board approval. 

Motion/Second to accept the May Cash Control Statement by: Felber/Adams.  In favor: Adams, Felber, Goldsmith 
and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  Motion Prevailed. 

Financial Reports are retained as part of the Official Minutes, which are available in the Clerk’s Office. 
 
Investment Update 

As of May 31, 2024, the Sherburne State Bank Checking was earning 1.09%, the Sherburne State Bank Debit Card 
Checking earned 1.09%, the money market account was earning 5.12%, the CD was earning 4.185%, and the 4M fund was 
earning 5.236%. 

 
Treasurer’s Report 
Town Funds balances as of May 31, 2024:  

General Fund:         $ 182,047.19   Road & Bridge:   $  968,195.87 
Fire:            $ 64,112.80   Capital Reserve:  $   76,494.45 
Driveway Escrows:  $ 21,000.00    Pine Crest Estates Escrow:  $  1,860.06 
SOEL Escrow:   $ 24,394.91  

       All remaining escrows are unchanged. 
Motion/Second to accept the Treasurer’s Report date ending 05/31/2024 by: Ellinger/Goldsmith.  In favor: 

Adams, Ellinger, Felber, Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  Motion Prevailed. 
Treasurer’s Reports are retained as part of the Official Minutes, which are available in the Clerk’s Office. 

  
Report of May Sherburne State Bank Securities Pledge Validation  
 Treasurer Arnold presented the Report of May Sherburne State Bank Securities Pledge Validation to the board.  
The required pledge amount was $837,972.05.  The securities pledge amount was $1,565,893.85 which was $727,921.80 
over the required pledge amount.   

This report will be retained as part of the Official Minutes, which are available in the Clerk’s Office and are attached 
to the minutes. 

Treasurer Arnold stated that the 70% first part property tax payment, in the amount of $414,189.11 and the 
wildlife refuge payment in lieu of taxes in the amount of $5,947.81 were received in June.  The next property tax payment 
will be received in July. 

Treasurer Arnold stated that she would like to transfer the $200,000.00 that is due from the Capital Fund to the 
Road and Bridge Fund at the end of the year, after the property tax payments have been received.  The board agreed. 



  

 

Regular Meeting – Wednesday June 26, 2024 – 7:00PM       7 
 

Clerk Weber reported that the draft audit reports have been received and she had reviewed them.  Treasurer 
Arnold will review the reports.  Schlenner Wenner will be sending the audit report to the state by June 30th and will be 
presenting the audit report at the July meeting. 

Announcements 
 Clerk Weber Announced: 

• July Board Meeting – Wednesday, July 24th @ 7PM 
• Election Judge Training - July 
• Candidate Filing Dates - Tuesday, July 30th through Tuesday, August 13th at 5PM 
• Primary Election – Tuesday, August 13th 
• Sherburne County Free Mattress Recycling Event – September 7, 2024 – 9AM-1PM – Vonco II Landfill, 15301 140th 

Ave NW, Becker, MN 
• CSAH 4 Detour (Work on bridge over St. Francis River) – Construction closure is scheduled begin on July 10th with 

completion set to be September 20th. 

Adjournment 
Motion/Second to adjourn the regular meeting by: Hassett/Goldsmith.  In favor: Adams, Ellinger, Felber, 

Goldsmith and Hassett.  Opposed: None.  Abstained: None.  Absent: None.  Motion Passed, adjourning the Regular 
Monthly Meeting, on Wednesday June 26, 2024, at 8:27PM. 

Respectfully Submitted,  
Chris Weber 
Town of Orrock, Clerk  

 
 
Accepted this 24th day of July 2024 by the Orrock Township Board of Supervisors.  
 
 
          
_______________________________  Attest:  ___________________________________ 
Bryan Adams, Chair     Chris Weber, Town Clerk 



AGENDA ITEM 
Orrock Town Board 

Prepared By: 
Chris Weber, Clerk 

Meeting Date: 
07/24/2024 

Regular Agenda Item Item No. 

7A 
Item Description: 

2023 Audit Presentation 
Reviewed By:  N/A 

Reviewed By: Chris Weber/Janine Arnold 

ACTION REQUESTED 
Motion to accept the 2023 audit as presented 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION 
Schlenner and Wenner will be presenting the 2023 Audit reports 
 FINANCIAL IMPACT 

N/A 

ATTACHMENTS 
• Audit report presentation



Orrock Township, Minnesota

Presentation of the Audited Financial Statements

Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2023



Audit Process and Opinion

We are expressing a qualified opinion on the Governmental Activities 
(Government-Wide) financial statements because the Township has not 

recorded capital assets or adopted GASB 68 & 71.

Unmodified (Clean) Opinion
On the fund basis financial statements which includes the General, Road and Bridge, Fire, 

ARPA, and General Capital Projects funds

General Procedures

Obtain Records Inquiries Analytical 
Procedures Sampling Detail Testing



Required 
Communications

Audit went smoothly

Positive Working 
Relationship with 
Management

Nothing unusual noted in 
terms of recorded 
transactions or accounting 
policies/treatments 



Internal Controls Over Financial 
Reporting

• We proposed audit 
adjustments that we 
consider to be 
material.

• Your Township has a 
lack of proper 
segregation of duties, 
which is very 
common for a 
Township of your 
size.

• We have prepared the 
financial statements on 
behalf of the 
Township.

• The Township 
has elected not to 
adopt GASB 
Statement No. 68 
& 71 and has 
elected to not 
record capital 
assets.



Minnesota Legal 
Compliance

• Areas Reviewed
• Contracting and Bidding
• Depositories of Public Funds
• Conflicts of Interest
• Claims and Disbursements
• Miscellaneous Provisions

• Findings: 
• None in the current year



 Expenditures were under budget, 
primarily due to general 
government expenses being 
underbudget.

 Revenues were above budget, 
primarily due to the Township 
receiving more interest earnings 
than expected.

2022 2023 2023 Budget
Revenues 111,351$           190,573$           133,622$           
Expenditures 113,152             100,801             126,917             
Other Sources (Uses) -                        -                        -                        
Change in Fund Balance (1,801)                89,772               6,705                 

Fund Balance 106,083$           195,855$           N/A



Detailed Revenue AnalysisGeneral 
Fund



Detailed Expenditure AnalysisGeneral 
Fund



 The Township will maintain an unassigned General 
Fund balance of not less than 50% of budgeted 
operating expenditures.

Year Percentage
2019 103.6%
2020 126.1%
2021 114.1%
2022 92.1%
2023 153.3%



Cash Trend AnalysisGeneral 
Fund



Financial Highlights
Remaining Governmental Funds

* Details for the major governmental funds noted above can be found on pages 10-13 in the audited financial statements.



Cash Trend Analysis
Remaining 
Governmental 
Funds



Questions?
Molly Thompson, CPA, Partner
mthompson@schlennerwenner.cpa 
320-251-0286

mailto:mthompson@schlennerwenner.cpa


AGENDA ITEM 
Orrock Town Board 

Prepared By: 
Chris Weber, Clerk 

Meeting Date: 
07/24/2024 

Regular Agenda Item Item No. 

7B 
Item Description: 

Draft Mississippi River St. Cloud Comprehensive 
Watershed Management Plan for the Formal 60-day 
Period 

Reviewed By:  N/A 

Reviewed By: Chris Weber 

ACTION REQUESTED 
Send in township comments on the draft Mississippi St. Cloud Comprehensive Watershed Management 
Plan (they would like all township comments consolidated in one document).  If any board member has a 
comment, please submit to the clerk for consolidation. 
Please submit formal written comments no later than end-of-day September 6th, 2024 to: 
Dan Cibulka, Sherburne SWCD 
425 Jackson Ave NW, Elk River, MN 55330  AND  
dcibulka@sherburneswcd.org  

AND  
Zach Guttormson, BWSR 
MRSC 1w1p Project Coordinator Board Conservationist 
520 Lafayette Road North, St. Paul, MN 55155 
zach.guttormson@state.mn.us 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION 
The draft Mississippi River St. Cloud Comprehensive Watershed (MRSC) Management Plan has been 

approved by their Policy Committee and is hereby submitted for the formal 60-day review period.  The plan is a 
large document, so please use the link to review the plan.  If you would like me to email you the document, 
please let me know.  Bring any comments to the July meeting for consolidation to send to Sherburne SWCD. 

The Mississippi River St. Cloud Comprehensive Watershed Management Plan (Plan) is a unifying water 
management strategy for the Mississippi River St. Cloud Watershed (Watershed). It was developed and will be 
implemented by local government units across the Watershed (Partnership), as well as their partners from 
state and federal agencies, non-profit organizations, citizens, and other stakeholders. The Plan focuses on 
restoring impaired waters and habitats, protecting high quality water resources and habitat, and protecting 
groundwater quality through holistic management. 

 FINANCIAL IMPACT 
N/A 

ATTACHMENTS 
Township Comments form with link to the management plan  
• Please find the draft plan at the following weblink: https://checkitout.isginc.com/view/816991948/i/.

mailto:zach.guttormson@state.mn.us


MEMORANDUM

To: Plan Review Authorities and Local Stakeholders 

From: The Mississippi River St. Cloud Watershed Partnership 

Date: 07-08-2024

Subject: Submission of the draft Mississippi River St. Cloud Comprehensive Watershed Management Plan 
for the formal 60-day period  

Greetings, 

This notice is being sent on behalf of the Mississippi River St. Cloud Watershed Partnership including Benton County, 
Benton Soil and Water Conservation District (SWCD), Meeker County, Meeker SWCD, Mille Lacs SWCD, Sherburne County, 
Sherburne SWCD, Stearns County, Stearns SWCD, Wright County and Wright SWCD.  The draft Mississippi River St. Cloud 
Comprehensive Watershed (MRSC) Management Plan has been approved by our local Policy Committee and is hereby 
submitted for the formal 60-day review period pursuant to One Watershed, One Plan operating procedures v2.1. 

Please find the draft plan at the following weblink:  https://checkitout.isginc.com/view/816991948/i/. 

Recipients of this notice are invited to provide written comments to Dan Cibulka and Zach Guttormson at the contact 
information listed below. 

Please submit formal written comments no later than end-of-day September 6th, 2024 to: 

Dan Cibulka, Sherburne SWCD  AND Zach Guttormson, BWSR 
MRSC 1w1p Project Coordinator  Board Conservationist 
425 Jackson Ave NW, Elk River, MN 55330 520 Lafayette Road North, St. Paul, MN 55155 
dcibulka@sherburneswcd.org  zach.guttormson@state.mn.us 

Questions about the plan content or process can also be directed to Dan Cibulka or Zach Guttormson.  A summary of 
comments received will be distributed to those who submitted.  Additionally, the comments will be formally reviewed at a 
Public Hearing in December of 2024.  Details regarding the Public Hearing will be posted to the project website once the 
date and location are established.   

MRSC 1w1p Project Website:  https://www.millelacsswcd.org/1w1p/mississippi-river-st-cloud-watershed-plan/ 

Sincerely, 

Dan Cibulka 
Sherburne SWCD Sr. Water Resource Specialist 
MRSC 1w1p Project Coordinator 

https://bwsr.state.mn.us/one-watershed-one-plan-policies
https://checkitout.isginc.com/view/816991948/i/
mailto:dcibulka@sherburneswcd.org
mailto:zach.guttormson@state.mn.us
https://www.millelacsswcd.org/1w1p/mississippi-river-st-cloud-watershed-plan/


Comment 
Number

Commenter Page Number  Section Comment Responsible Party Response Completed?

Sarah Boser, ISG 54 2.1
Please list specific subwatershed assessments under the list of Documents and 
Reports: Big and Mitchell Lakes SWA, 2019; Lake Orono SWA, 2020. 

Jane Doe, Blue 
Water SWCD 82 3

the figure details do not correspond to the figure caption; wrong image? Update 
with image of priority areas for groundwater.

Jane Doe, Blue 
Water SWCD 169 5

Change the 3rd sentence of 3 paragraph to "enter sentence text here" to reflect 
meeting discussion.

7/15/2024 1 of 1



AGENDA ITEM 
Orrock Town Board 

 
 
 

Prepared By: 
Chris Weber, Clerk 

Meeting Date: 
07/24/2024 

Regular Agenda Item Item No. 

7C 
Item Description: 

I-75 Baldwin Township - Order Granting Incorporation 
Reviewed By:  N/A 

Reviewed By: Chris Weber 

 

ACTION REQUESTED 
None – Information only 
 
 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION 
On January 8, 2024, the Township filed Resolution No. 23-44 entitled In the Matter of the Petition of Baldwin 
Township for Incorporation Pursuant to Minnesota Statutes § 414.02, requesting an order of incorporation 
granting its Petition. 
 
ORDER HAS BEEN GRANTED 
1.The Amended Petition for Incorporation of Baldwin Township (I-75) is GRANTED. 
2. The Township shall hereby be incorporated as the City of Baldwin. 
3. The incorporated City of Baldwin shall consist of all property within the Township, as legally described in 
Finding No. 19 above. 
4.  Incorporation shall be effective upon the election and qualification of the new City Council as set out in 
Paragraph 6 of this Order. 
 
 
 FINANCIAL IMPACT 

N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

 
• I-75 Baldwin Township - Order Granting Incorporation 



 

 1 

 

OAH 71-0330-39760 

STATE OF MINNESOTA 

OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

In the Matter of the Petition for the 
Incorporation of Baldwin Township 
(MBAU Docket I-75) 

FINDINGS OF FACT, 
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, 

AND ORDER 

This matter came before Administrative Law Judge Jessica A. Palmer-Denig for 
an evidentiary hearing on the Petition for Incorporation (Petition) of the Baldwin Town 
Board (Township), on March 7 and 8, 2024, at the Baldwin Town Hall in Baldwin 
Township, Minnesota. The Administrative Law Judge also conducted a hearing to receive 
comments from the public on March 7, 2024, and received additional written public 
comments following the hearing. The record closed upon receipt of the final filings in this 
matter on April 19, 2024. 

Michael C. Couri and Robert T. Ruppe, Couri & Ruppe, P.L.L.P., appeared on 

behalf of the Township. Kelly Bourgeois and Damien Toven, Toven and Associates, 

appeared on behalf of the City of Princeton (City). 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE 

1. Has the Township established that it meets the criteria provided in Minn. 
Stat. § 414.02 (2022), and that it should be incorporated as a city? 

 
2. Should a portion of the Township’s land be excluded from the area for 

incorporation and instead be annexed to the City? 

SUMMARY OF CONCLUSION 

The Township has established by a preponderance of the evidence that it meets 
the criteria for incorporation found in Minn. Stat. § 414.02, and that its Petition should be 
GRANTED as to all land within the area proposed for incorporation. The City’s request 
for annexation of a portion of the Township’s land is DENIED. 

Based on the evidence in the hearing record, the Administrative Law Judge makes 
the following:  



 

 2 

 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

I. Procedural History 

1. On January 8, 2024, the Township filed Resolution No. 23-44 entitled In the 
Matter of the Petition of Baldwin Township for Incorporation Pursuant to Minnesota 
Statutes § 414.02, requesting an order of incorporation granting its Petition.1 

2. As required by Minn. Stat. § 414.02, subd. 1a(a), on December 5, 2023, 
more than 30 days prior to filing its original petition, the Township served notice of intent 
to incorporate on all cities and townships abutting the Township.2 

3. The Administrative Law Judge held a prehearing conference by telephone 
on January 19, 2024,3 and subsequently issued a Prehearing Order setting this matter for 
an evidentiary hearing and public information and comment meeting on March 7, 2024. 
The Order also extended the evidentiary hearing to March 8, 2024, if an additional day of 
testimony became necessary.4 

4. The Administrative Law Judge issued a Notice of Hearing to provide the 
public with notice of the evidentiary hearing and public comment hearing.5 

5. As required by Minn. Stat. § 414.09, subd. 1(c)-(d) (2022), the Notice of 
Hearing was published for two successive weeks in the Union-Times, and the notice was 
served on the Township, Sherburne County, and all cities and townships abutting the 
Township.6 

6. An evidentiary hearing was held on March 7 and 8, 2024, at the Baldwin 
Town Hall.7 The City participated in the hearing, but it did not become a party to this 
matter. 

7. The Township offered sworn testimony from nine witnesses, and the 
Township’s Exhibits 1-66 were received into the record. The City offered sworn testimony 
from six witnesses and the Administrative Law Judge received into the record the City’s 
Exhibits 101-112. After the hearing and before the close of the record, the Township 
supplemented its exhibits by filing Exhibit 67, which was also received. 

8. At the hearing, the Township amended the legal description for the property 
within its incorporation area (Subject Area).8 The Township also supplemented the record 

 
1 Resolution No. 23-44 (Dec. 4, 2023). 
2 Kathleen Budish Affidavit (Aff.) of Service by Mail (Dec. 5, 2023). 
3 Order for Prehearing Conference (Jan. 10, 2024); Prehearing Conference Digital Recording (Jan. 19, 
2024) (on file with the Minn. Office Admin. Hearings). 
4 Prehearing Order (Jan. 24, 2024). 
5 Notice of Hearing (Feb. 7, 2024). 
6 Rhonda Herberg Aff. of Publication (Feb. 22, 2024); Certificate of Service (Feb. 7, 2024). 
7 Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with the Minn. Office Admin. Hearings); Hearing Digital 
Recording (Mar. 8, 2024) (on file with the Minn. Office Admin. Hearings). 
8 Exhibit (Ex.) 13 at 8. 



 

 3 

 

by filing Township Resolution No. 24-16 on April 19, 2024.9 This resolution formally 
ratified the amended property description.10 

9. This proceeding included numerous opportunities for participation by 
members of the public. The Notice of Hearing established a deadline of February 29, 
2024, for submission of written public comments prior to the hearing.11 The evidentiary 
hearings on March 7 and 8, 2024, were open to the public and were well attended.12 The 
Administrative Law Judge held a public comment hearing on March 7, 2024, at the 
Baldwin Town Hall.13 Approximately 1,000 people attended the hearing.14 The 
Administrative Law Judge issued a Post-Hearing Scheduling Order on March 11, 2024, 
establishing a deadline of March 22, 2024, for receipt of additional written public 
comments.15 

10. The Administrative Law Judge has reviewed and considered all public 
comments submitted in this matter, including those submitted after the final deadline. The 
late-filed comments are consistent with other comments filed in this case and were 
provided to the Township before the record closed. The Administrative Law Judge 
determines that consideration of these comments does not result in prejudice to the 
Township. 

11. The record closed upon the submission of final filings by the Township and 
City on April 19, 2024. 

II. Background 

12. The Township is located in the northeast corner of Sherburne County, 
Minnesota.16 

13. The Township is approximately 45 miles north of the Twin Cities and 
approximately 35 miles east of St. Cloud, Minnesota.17 

14. The Township was originally organized in 1850 and, at that time, the 
Township contained all of the land area presently located in the Township, Blue Hill 
Township, and Santiago Township.18 In 1877, the Township was reorganized, and its land 
area reduced to include the land within its present boundaries.19 

 
9 Ex. 67. 
10 Id. 
11 Notice of Hearing (Feb. 7, 2024). 
12 Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with the Minn. Office Admin. Hearings); Hearing Digital 
Recording (Mar. 8, 2024) (on file with the Minn. Office Admin. Hearings). 
13 Public Comment Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with the Minn. Office Admin. Hearings). 
14 Statement of Fire Chief Scott Case (Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 8, 2024) (on file with the Minn. Office 
Admin. Hearings)). 
15 Post-Hearing Scheduling Order (Mar. 11, 2024). 
16 Ex. 4 at 4. 
17 Ex. 2 at 22. 
18 Ex. 4 at 4. 
19 Id. 



 

 4 

 

15. The Township is bordered on the north by the City and Princeton Township; 
at its northwest corner by Greenbush Township, on the west by Blue Hill Township; on its 
southwest corner by Orrock Township; on the south by Livonia Township; on its southeast 
corner by Stanford Township; on the east by Spencer Brook Township; and on its 
northeast corner by Wyanett Township.20 

16. A map depicting the Township in relation to the surrounding communities is 
below.21 

 

 

17. The Townships of Greenbush, Orrock, Princeton, Blue Hill, Livonia, and 
Spencer Brook adopted resolutions supporting the Petition.22 

18. Other than the City, no community bordering the Township expressed 
opposition to the Petition. The City opposed the Petition and requested that a portion of 
the Subject Area instead be annexed to the City.23 

19. The legal description of the Subject Area, as amended at the hearing, is as 
follows:24 

 
20 Id. at 4, 6. 
21 Id. at 6. 
22 Ex. 14. 
23 See City of Princeton Evidentiary Testimony Opposing Baldwin Township Incorporation. 
24 Ex. 13. 



 

 5 

 

All of the following Sections: 1, 2, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 
21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36 located in Township 
35 north, Range 26 west, Sherburne County, Minnesota; 

AND 

Those portions of the following described sections: 

All of Section 3, Township 35 North, Range 26 West, Sherburne County, 
Minnesota, EXCEPT therefrom the following properties: 

• The west 1,650 feet of the NW ¼ of Section 3, Township 35 North, Range 26 
West, Sherburne County, Minnesota. 
 

• That part of E ½ of SE ¼, Section 4, and that part of SW ¼, Section 3, described 
as follows: Commencing at southeast corner of Section 4, also southwest 
corner of Section 3; thence north along east line of said Section 4 (also west 
line of Section 3) for 1,200 feet to actual point of beginning; thence south 89 
degrees 17 minutes west 1,200 feet along a line parallel to south line of Section 
4; thence north 1,400 feet parallel to east line of Section 4; thence north 89 
degrees 17 minutes east on a line parallel to south line of Section 4 1,200 feet 
to a point on east line of Section 4; thence north 89 degrees 46 minutes east 
967 feet on a line parallel to south line of Section 3; thence south 15 degrees 
27 minutes east 212.9 feet; thence south 41 degrees 28 minutes east 501.9 
feet; thence south 27 degrees 55 minutes east 585 feet; thence south and 
parallel to west line of Section 3 300 feet; thence south 89 degrees 46 minutes 
west and parallel to south line of Section 3 1,620 feet to point of beginning. 
Except the NE ¼ of SE ¼, except therefrom that point which lies northerly of 
the south 1,235 feet and westerly of the east 1,200 feet; and that part of the SE 
¼ of SE ¼ which lies within the boundary lines of a tract described above in 
document 92047, Sections 3 and 4, Township 35 North, Range 26 West, 
Sherburne County. 

That part of Northeast Quarter of Section 4, Township 35 North, Range 26 West, 
Sherburne County, Minnesota, described as follows: 

• That part of the Northeast Quarter of Section 4, Township 35, Range 26, 
Sherburne County, Minnesota, lying westerly of the westerly right of way 
line of 122nd Street. 
 

• All of the Southwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter of Section 4, except 
that part of the Southwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter of Section 4, 
Township 35, Range 26, Sherburne County, Minnesota, described as 
follows: Beginning at the point of intersection of the East line of STATE 
HIGHWAY RIGHT OF WAY PLAT NO. 71-2, said Sherburne County, with 
the North line of said Southwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter; thence 
Southerly, along said East line of STATE HIGHWAY RIGHT OF WAY PLAT 



 

 6 

 

NO. 71-2, a distance of 170.50 feet; thence Easterly, parallel with said North 
line of the Southwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter, a distance of 311.00 
feet; thence Southerly, parallel with said East line of STATE HIGHWAY 
RIGHT OF WAY PLAT NO. 71-2, a distance of 115.00 feet; thence Easterly, 
parallel with said North line of the Southwest Quarter of the Northeast 
Quarter, a distance of 66.00 feet; thence Northerly, parallel with said East 
line of STATE HIGHWAY RIGHT OF WAY PLAT NO. 71-2, a distance of 
285.50 feet to the point of intersection with said North line of the Southwest 
Quarter of the Northeast Quarter; thence Westerly, along said North line of 
the Southwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter, a distance of 377.00 feet 
to the point of beginning. 

All of the Southeast Quarter of Section 4, Township 35 North, Range 26 West, 
Sherburne County, Minnesota, EXCEPT therefrom the following properties: 

• The Northeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 4, Township 35 
North, Range 26 West, except therefrom that part which lies northerly of the 
south 1,235 feet and westerly of the east 1,200 feet. 

• That part of the south 1235 feet of the Northwest Quarter of the Southeast 
Quarter of Section 4, Township 35, Range 26, Sherburne County, 
Minnesota, EXCEPT the north 505 feet of the south 2472.5 feet of the west 
604 feet of said Southeast Quarter and EXCEPT that part of said Northwest 
Quarter of the Southeast Quarter described as the north 730 feet of the 
south 1967.5 feet of the west 264 feet of said Southeast Quarter. 

• That part of the Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 4, 
Township 35, Range 26, Sherburne County, Minnesota, lying north of the 
south 297 feet thereof, EXCEPT the north 371 feet of the south 1204.05 
feet of the west 264 feet of said Southwest Quarter of the Southeast 
Quarter, and EXCEPT the south 412.5 feet of the west 264 feet of said 
Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter, and EXCEPT the north 264 
feet of the south 561 feet of the east 430 feet of said Southwest Quarter of 
the Southeast Quarter, and EXCEPT that part of the west 264 feet of said 
Southwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter lying north of the south 1257.5 
feet thereof. 

• That part of the south 1200 feet of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast 
Quarter of Section 4, Township 35, Range 26, Sherburne County, 
Minnesota, EXCEPT the east 400 feet of said Southeast Quarter of the 
Southeast Quarter, and EXCEPT the south 561 feet of the east 660 feet of 
the west 1900 feet of said Southeast Quarter. 

All of the Southwest Quarter of Section 4, Township 35 North, Range 26 West, 
Sherburne County, Minnesota, EXCEPT therefrom the following properties: 



 

 7 

 

• That part of the Southwest Quarter of Section 4, Township 35 North, Range 
26 West, Sherburne County, Minnesota, described as follows: Beginning at 
the northwest corner of said Southwest Quarter of Section 4; thence South 
on the west line of said Southwest Quarter a distance of 413 feet; thence 
East parallel with the north line of said Southwest Quarter of Section 4, to 
the westerly line of the railroad right-of-way as presently located and 
established; thence northerly along said westerly line of the railroad right-
of-way to the north line of the said Southwest Quarter of Section 4; thence 
West on and along said north line to the point of beginning. Less and Except 
that part of the Northwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 4, 
Township 35 North, Range 26 West, shown as Parcel 4370 on the plat 
designated as State Highway Right-of-Way Plat Number 71-1 on file and of 
record in the office of the Register of Deeds in and for Sherburne County, 
Minnesota. 

• Lot 7, Block 1, plat of Railside, Sherburne County, Minnesota 
 

• Lot 1, Block 1, PUC Plat, Sherburne County, Minnesota 
 

• Lot 1, Block 1, plat of Railway Properties, Sherburne County, Minnesota 
 

• Outlot A, PUC Plat, Sherburne County, Minnesota 

All of the Southeast Quarter of Section 5, Township 35 North, Range 26 West, 
Sherburne County, Minnesota, EXCEPT therefrom the following properties: 

• The Northwest Quarter of the Northwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter 
of Section 5, Township 35 North, Range 26 West, Sherburne County, 
Minnesota. 

All of the Southwest Quarter of Section 5, Township 35 North, Range 26 West, 
Sherburne County. 

All of Section 9, Township 35 North, Range 26 West, Sherburne County, 
Minnesota, EXCEPT therefrom the following properties: 

• Outlot A, PUC Plat, Sherburne County, Minnesota. 
 

• That part of the North Half of the Northeast Quarter (N1⁄2 of NE1⁄4) of 
Section Nine (9), Township Thirty-five (35), Range Twenty-six (26), 
Sherburne County, Minnesota, described as follows: Beginning at a point 
on the North line of said Northeast Quarter of Section 9, Township 35, 
Range 26, which point is 800.02 feet East of the Northwest corner thereof; 
thence in a Southerly direction parallel with the West line of said Northeast 
Quarter to the South line of the North Half of the Northeast Quarter; thence 
in an Easterly direction along the South line of said North Half of the 
Northeast Quarter to the Southeast corner of the North Half of the Northeast 



 

 8 

 

Quarter of Section 9, Township 35, Range 26; thence in a Northerly 
direction along the East line of said Northeast Quarter of Section 9, 
Township 35, Range 26, to the Northeast corner thereof; thence in a 
Westerly direction along the North line of said Northeast Quarter to the point 
of beginning, according to the U.S. Government Survey thereof. 

 
EXCEPT any land annexed to the City of Princeton in MBAU Docket 
No. OA-1894-1 by order issued July 16, 2024. 

III. Incorporation Factors Under Minn. Stat. § 414.02, subd. 3. 

20. Under Minn. Stat. § 414.02, subd. 3(a), a petition for incorporation must be 
evaluated using 13 factors. Those factors are: 

(1) present population and number of households, past 
population and projected population growth for the subject area; 
 
(2) quantity of land within the subject area; the natural terrain 
including recognizable physical features, general topography, major 
watersheds, soil conditions and such natural features as rivers, lakes 
and major bluffs; 
 
(3) present pattern of physical development, planning, and 
intended land uses in the subject area including residential, 
industrial, commercial, agricultural, and institutional land uses and 
the impact of the proposed action on those uses; 
 
(4) the present transportation network and potential 
transportation issues, including proposed highway development; 
 
(5) land use controls and planning presently being utilized in the 
subject area, including comprehensive plans, policies of the 
Metropolitan Council; and whether there are inconsistencies 
between proposed development and existing land use controls; 
 
(6) existing levels of governmental services being provided to the 
subject area, including water and sewer service, fire rating and 
protection, law enforcement, street improvements and maintenance, 
administrative services, and recreational facilities and the impact of 
the proposed action on the delivery of the services; 
 
(7) existing or potential environmental problems and whether the 
proposed action is likely to improve or resolve these problems; 
 
(8) fiscal impact on the subject area and adjacent units of local 
government, including present bonded indebtedness; local tax rates 
of the county, school district, and other governmental units, 



 

 9 

 

including, where applicable, the net tax capacity of platted and 
unplatted lands and the division of homestead and nonhomestead 
property; and other tax and governmental aid issues; 
 
(9) relationship and effect of the proposed action on affected and 
adjacent school districts and communities; 
 
(10) whether delivery of services to the subject area can be 
adequately and economically delivered by the existing government; 
 
(11) analysis of whether necessary governmental services can 
best be provided through the proposed action or another type of 
boundary adjustment; 
 
(12) degree of contiguity of the boundaries of the subject area and 
adjacent units of local government; and 
 
(13) analysis of the applicability of the State Building Code.25 
 

A. The present population and number of households, past population 
and projected population growth for the subject area. 

 
21. In 2020, the Township had a population of 7,104, and it included 2,531 

households.26 

 

22. The Minnesota State Demographic Center estimates that the Township had 

a population of 7,043 in 2022.27 The reduction in population between 2020 and 2022 is 

due, at least in part, to the City’s annexation of a mobile home park in 2021, through which 

240 Township residents became residents of the City.28 

 

23. There are 1,779 townships in Minnesota.29 Of that number, the Township is 

the third most populous, and only Big Lake Township and White Bear Township have 

populations larger than that of the Township.30 

 

24. Based on 2022 estimates, the Township’s size exceeds the population of 

721 of Minnesota’s 855 cities.31 If the Township were a city today, it would be the fourth 

largest in Sherburne County.32 

 
25 Minn. Stat. § 414.02, subd. 3(a)(1)-(13). 
26 Ex. 4 at 8. 
27 Id. at 7. 
28 Id. 
29 Id. 
30 Id. 
31 Id. 
32 Id. 



 

 10 

 

25. The Township has experienced substantial population growth over the last 

two decades. Between 2000 and 2020, the Township’s population grew by 53.7 percent.33 

The number of households in the Township grew 62.7 percent between 2000 and 2020.34 

 

26. The Township has developed a conservative projection of its likely 

population growth over the next few decades.35 According to these projections, the 

Township estimates that it will have 8,762 residents and 3,107 households by 2040.36 

 

B. The quantity of land within the subject area; the natural terrain 
including recognizable physical features, general topography, major 
watersheds, soil conditions and such natural features as rivers, lakes 
and major bluffs. 

27. There are approximately 22,177 acres of land within the Township.37 

28. The southern portion of the Township has a natural terrain that is 
moderately rolling, and the terrain in the northern portion of the Township is relatively 
flat.38 Elevations range from 950 feet to 1,050 feet above mean sea level.39 

 

29. The Township’s primary soil types are Zimmerman Sand, Isanti Sandy 
Loam, Lino Loamy Fine Sand, and Elk River Sand.40 The Township’s soils are very deep, 
excessively drained soils that formed in sandy glacial outwash or eolian sediments on 
glacial outwash plains, stream terraces, deltas, lake terraces, dunes, beach deposits, and 
valley trains.41 

 

30. When the Township was organized, residents focused on agricultural 
activities, but over time, agriculture has declined and many farms have been developed 
into residential subdivisions.42 The soils in the Township generally support continued 
suburban development.43 

 

31. The Subject Area has extensive public waters, including the Rum River in 
the northeast of the Township, as well as lakes and wetlands.44 The portion of the Rum 
River that runs through the Township is designated as “scenic,” and the river and its 
shorelines are protected through the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources’ Wild 

 
33 Id. at 8. 
34 Id. 
35 Id. at 8-9. 
36 Id. at 9. 
37 Id. at 15, 17. 
38 Id. at 9. 
39 Id.  
40 Ex. 1 at 7; Ex. 4 at 9. 
41 Ex. 4 at 9. 
42 Id. at 4, 10, 15. 
43 Id. at 10. 
44 Id. at 10-11. 



 

 11 

 

and Scenic River Program.45 The Township has approximately 5,231 acres of shoreland, 
and 1,339 acres that have been designated as wild and scenic.46 

 

32. A portion of the Subject Area is within the Rum River Watershed and the 
remaining area is within the Mississippi River-St. Cloud Watershed.47 The Township is 
subject to the 2018-2028 Sherburne County Local Water Management Plan.48 

 
C. The present pattern of physical development, planning, and intended 

land uses in the subject area including residential, industrial, 
commercial, agricultural, and institutional land uses and the impact of 
the proposed action on those uses. 

33. Existing land uses in the Township include a mix of land use types, including 
single-family residential neighborhoods, commercial properties, industrial properties, 
public uses, parks, and agricultural properties.49 

 
34. Of these uses, large lot residential uses account for 50.4 percent of the 

acreage in the Township.50 Many of the Township’s residential properties are in platted 
subdivisions, and the Township is approaching full build-out of land available to be 
subdivided and developed.51 

 

35. The Township requires that single-family residential lots be a minimum of 
2.5 acres, with a minimum of 40,000 square feet of buildable land for structures and a 
subsurface sewage treatment system.52 

 

36. Most of the residential lots in the Township are less than ten acres.53 Lots 
ten acres or less are difficult to subdivide into smaller properties due to the limited land 
area of such lots, the placement of any existing structures, and the cost constraints of 
allocating infrastructure across a small new development.54 

 
37. Agricultural uses account for approximately 40.6 percent of the Township’s 

lands.55 
 

 
45 Id. at Appendix A at 7. 
46 Id. at 19. 
47 Ex. 1 at 6; Ex. 4 at 12. 
48 Ex. 1 at 6, Ex. 4 at 12. 
49 Ex. 4 at 15. 
50 Id. at 14-15. 
51 Id. at 15; Testimony (Test.) of Dan Licht. 
52 Ex. 4 at 31. 
53 Ex. 1 at 7; Ex. 4 at 16; Test. of D. Licht. 
54 Ex. 4 at 14; see also Ex. 2 at 58-61 (considering feasibility of further subdividing specific existing 
residential lots). 
55 Ex. 4 at 15. 



 

 12 

 

38. A small portion of the Township is zoned for commercial and industrial 
uses.56 Property zoned as commercial accounts for only 0.5 percent of the Township’s 
lands, while industrial properties are only 0.1 percent of the Township’s area.57 

 

39. These commercial and industrial zones are largely located along the U.S. 
Highway 169 corridor, which bisects the Township.58 

 

40. Small portions of the Township are designated as public or quasi-public land 
and parks or open spaces.59 Together, these public uses account for approximately 2.2 
percent of the Subject Area.60 

 

41. The Township also has several environmental protection zoning districts 
related to shoreland management, public waters, and floodplain management.61 

 

42. For example, the Township established the Rum River Wild and Scenic 
Overlay District to protect and manage development along the bluff land and shoreline of 
the Rum River, to protect the scenic value and water quality of the area. And to minimize 
harmful impacts from development.62 

 

43. The Township’s environmental protection zoning districts have been 
approved by the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources and Sherburne County.63 

 

44. A map depicting the present land use within the Township is located 
below.64 On the Township’s land use map, agricultural areas are depicted in light green, 
residential properties are yellow, commercial uses are shown in red, and industrial 
properties are blue, while parks and public lands are depicted, respectively, in dark green 
and pink.65 
 

 
56 See Ex. 11 (depicting the Township’s business district). 
57 Ex. 4 at 15. 
58 Id.; Ex. 2 at 22. 
59 Ex. 4 at 15. 
60 Id. 
61 Id. at 31. 
62 Id.  
63 Id. at 10 
64 Id. at 15. 
65 Id. 



 

 13 

 

 

45. The Township has had a Comprehensive Plan since 2014, through which it 
seeks to address growth and development, including land use planning.66 

 
46. In 2022, authority for planning and zoning enforcement transferred to the 

Township from Sherburne County pursuant to an agreement between the two 
governmental entities, allowing the Township to administer its own zoning and subdivision 
ordinances.67 

 
47. In anticipation of obtaining that authority, in April 2022, the Township 

adopted its Zoning Ordinance and Subdivision Ordinance.68 

 
66 Id. at 17. 
67 Ex. 4 at 17; Test. of Bryan Lawrence. 
68 Ex. 51, 54. 



 

 14 

 

48. Under Minn. Stat. § 394.33, subd. 1 (2022), the Township’s official controls, 
including its Zoning Ordinance, Comprehensive Plan, and Subdivision Ordinance, must 
continue to be consistent with Sherburne County’s official controls. The Township can 
adopt more restrictive standards, but at a minimum, its zoning must be at least as 
restrictive as that adopted by the County.69 

 
49. Sherburne County’s land use controls are oriented to agricultural and rural 

land uses.70 Development within the Township, however, has trended toward suburban 
uses, including the development of extensive platted residential subdivisions, and the 
Township is continuing to develop in that manner.71 Further, Sherburne County’s zoning 
standards prevent the Township from rezoning lands to commercial or industrial unless 
the County agrees to the rezoning.72 As a result, the Township is currently unable to make 
investments to attract industrial development and the accompanying tax base, because 
there is no certainty that Sherburne County will agree to industrial zoning consistent with 
the Township’s plans.73 

 

50. The Township experienced a conflict between its development goals and 
Sherburne County’s zoning standards in 2021. The owner of a mobile home park located 
on the Township’s border with the City approached the Township to seek a zoning change 
that would have allowed expansion of the park.74 The Township approached Sherburne 
County to request a zoning change, because the County controlled the Township’s zoning 
at that time.75 The County did not agree to make the zoning change.76 The property owner 
then sought annexation to the City. The City annexed the property by ordinance under 
Minn. Stat. § 414.033, subd. 2(3) (2022).77 

 

51. The Township’s plan for future land use anticipates that the majority of its 
land will continue to be available for residential development, but it also plans to expand 
the amount of land zoned for commercial and industrial development.78 If the Township 
incorporates as a city, it will be able to tailor the zoning within the Subject Area to its 
needs, including by zoning additional land for commercial and industrial uses to promote 
economic development and greater employment opportunities.79 
  

 
69 Ex. 4 at 17, 20; Minn. Stat. § 394.33, subd. 1. 
70 Ex. 4 at 20. 
71 Id. at 15, 20. 
72 Id. at 4-5, 20. 
73 Id. at 4-5. 
74 Test. of Jay Swanson. 
75 Id. 
76 Id. 
77 See Order Approving Annexation Ordinance, In the Matter of the Annexation of Certain Real Property to 
the City of Princeton from Baldwin Township (MBAU Docket A-8371), OAH 71-0331-37957 (Dec. 3, 2021). 
78 Ex. 4 at 17. 
79 Id. at 4. 



 

 15 

 

D. The present transportation network and potential transportation 
issues, including proposed highway development. 

52. The Township is served by an extensive transportation network of federal 
county, and Township roads.80 

 
53. U.S. Highway 169 bisects the Township along a north-south axis and 

provides access to the Twin Cities metro area.81 
 

54. Within the Township, ten county highways form a minor arterial and 
collector road network providing access to surrounding communities including the City, 
and the cities of Zimmerman, Big Lake, Cambridge, and Isanti.82 

 

55. The Township owns and maintains approximately 82.7 miles of roads, of 
which 80 miles are currently paved.83 The Township has enhanced many of its existing 
gravel roadways using a process called “triple chip sealing,” which improves their 
performance.84 

 

56. The Township maintains a network of Township collector roads linking its 
residential subdivisions and providing access to county highways and to U.S. Highway 
169.85 

 

57. The Township has developed a capital improvement plan providing for 
reclamation and reconstruction of its streets over the next nine years.86 The current plan 
has not been adopted in its entirety pending the outcome of this proceeding.87 

 

58. The Township plans to do major road reconstruction projects on five of its 
roadways within the next few years.88 Road projects generally require a multi-year 
planning and construction process.89 

 

59. Presently, the Township finances road maintenance through a combination 
of property tax funding and bonded indebtedness.90 The Township anticipates that 
increases in road construction and maintenance costs in the near term will reduce the 
balance in its Road and Bridge Fund, such that major projects will be financed by issuing 
bonds beginning in 2025.91 

 
80 Id. at 27-29. 
81 Ex. 2 at 21; Ex. 4 at 27; Test. of Shane Nelson. 
82 Ex. 4 at 27-28. 
83 Test. of B. Lawrence; Ex. 1 at 2; Ex. 3 at 16. 
84 Test. of B. Lawrence. 
85 Ex. 4 at 27, 29. 
86 Ex. 3 at 19. 
87 Test. of B. Lawrence; Ex. 10. 
88 Test. of B. Lawrence; Test. of S. Nelson. 
89 Test. of B. Lawrence. 
90 Ex. 3 at 19; Test. of S. Nelson; Test. of B. Lawrence. 
91 Ex. 3 at 19. 



 

 16 

 

60. If the Township is not incorporated, it estimates that its planned road 
projects and debt service will require increasing the Township’s tax rate and imposing 
special assessments.92 The Township estimates that, without incorporation, its tax rate 
will increase approximately 26 percent over the next five years.93 

 
E. Land use controls and planning presently being utilized in the subject 

area, including comprehensive plans, policies of the Metropolitan 
Council; and whether there are inconsistencies between proposed 
development and existing land use controls. 

61. The Township is located outside the Twin Cities Metropolitan Area and is 
not subject to the jurisdiction of the Metropolitan Council.94 
 

62. Since 2022, the Township has exercised its own zoning controls. At this 
time, those controls must be at least as restrictive as those of Sherburne County, pursuant 
to Minn. Stat. § 394.33 (2022). 

 

63. The Township adopted a Comprehensive Plan in 2014 and adopted its own 
Zoning, Subdivision, and Building Ordinances in 2022.95 

 

64. Since taking over authority for land use controls, and consistent with its 
ordinances, the Township has administered all zoning and subdivision controls within the 
Township, including site and building plans, conditional use permits, interim use permits, 
shoreland and floodplain management, subdivision control, State Building Code 
enforcement, and subsurface sewage treatment systems regulation.96 

 
65. The Township’s Zoning Ordinance established zoning districts consistent 

with the Township’s Comprehensive Plan. Those districts are as follows: General Rural 
District, General Commercial District, General Industrial District, Shoreland Overlay 
District, Wild and Scenic Overlay District, and Floodplain Overlay District.97 

 
66. The Township’s land use ordinances require a minimum of 2.5 acres of land 

for any single-family residential lot, with a minimum of 40,000 square feet of buildable 
land for structures and a subsurface sewage treatment system.98 

 
67. The Township anticipates that its trend toward suburban development will 

continue, and that the controls adopted will allow that development, while also protecting 
the natural environment and the public health, safety, and welfare.99 

 

 
92 Id. 
93 Ex. 3 at 26. 
94 Ex. 4 at 30. 
95 Id. at 4, 30. 
96 Id. at 30. 
97 Id. at 30-31. 
98 Id. at 31. 
99 Id. 



 

 17 

 

68. The Township’s current development controls are consistent with its 
planned uses.100 Conflicts may arise, however, between the Township’s developmental 
plans and the baseline land use controls required for consistency with Sherburne 
County’s zoning controls under Minn. Stat. § 394.33.101 

 
69. If the Township incorporates as a city, it will be able to engage 

independently in long-range planning and to control development within the Township.102 
 
70. The Township has engaged the services of an engineer, a consultant that 

issues building permits, a planning firm, and legal counsel to obtain professional expertise 
in discharging its land use responsibilities.103 

 
71. Under Minn. Stat. §§ 462.351-.365 (2022), cities have authority to engage 

in municipal planning, including through the adoption of a comprehensive plan and zoning 
and subdivision ordinances. The Township’s adoption of a comprehensive plan and 
ordinances are consistent with the operations of cities under these statutes. 

 
F. The existing levels of governmental services being provided to the 

subject area, including water and sewer service, fire rating and 
protection, law enforcement, street improvements and maintenance, 
administrative services, and recreational facilities and the impact of 
the proposed action on the delivery of the services. 

72. In 1991, the Township adopted urban town powers under Minn. Stat.  
§ 368.01 (2022). As a result, the Township gained governmental powers and regulatory 
authority over a variety of land use and public health and safety concerns.104 

 
73. The Township currently provides a slate of municipal services to its 

residents and the Township.105 
 

74. The Township currently either directly provides or contracts for the provision 
of the following services:106 
 

• municipal sanitary sewer service to the Frontier Trails subdivision; 

• fire protection; 

• storm water management; 

• street maintenance. 

• parks and recreational services; 

• administrative services; 

 
100 Id. 
101 Id. at 45. 
102 Id. at 5.  
103 Test. of Joan Heinen. 
104 See Minn. Stat. § 368.01. 
105 Ex. 3 at 8-12; Ex. 4 at 33-34, 38-39; Ex. 5. 
106 Ex. 3 at 8-12; Ex. 4 at 33-34, 38-39; Ex. 5; Test. of B. Lawrence; Test. of J. Heinen. 



 

 18 

 

• planning and zoning enforcement; 

• election services; 

• building code enforcement; 

• assessing services; and 

• auditing services. 
 

75. The Township currently employs a number of full-time and part-time 
personnel in a variety of positions, including the following positions:107 

 

• Town Clerk/Treasurer; 

• Deputy Clerk; 

• Administrative Assistant; 

• Public Works Supervisor; 

• Public Works Maintenance Technician; 

• seasonal staff (as needed); and 

• Fire Department staff members, including a Fire Chief, Assistant Fire 
Chief; and a complement of firefighters. 

 
76. The Township’s Clerk-Treasurer and a Deputy Clerk provide general 

administrative and operational services.108 For example, the Clerk-Treasurer helps 
prepare the budget, keeps financial records, keeps and maintains Township records, 
records and preserves meeting minutes, oversees elections, and is the main point of 
contact for the public.109 

 
77. The Township maintains a town hall, a fire hall, and a public works facility.110 

The Township budgets for routine maintenance, Board of Supervisor activities, 
publication costs, and legal, assessing, auditing, engineering and other administrative 
services.111 

 
78. The Township contracts for legal, planning, building inspection, 

engineering, finance, property assessment, wastewater system operations, and 
information technology services.112 The use of consultants for these services is typical for 
governmental units the size of the Township.113 

 
79. The Township does not anticipate that incorporation would create a need to 

hire additional staff.114 The Township anticipates it will hire additional staff in the future if 
its growth warrants greater staff support.115 

 
107 Test. of J. Heinen; Test. of B. Lawrence; Ex. 4 at 33. 
108 Test. of J. Heinen; Ex. 3 at 8. 
109 Test. of J. Heinen; Ex. 3 at 8; Ex. 5 at 2. 
110 Ex. 3 at 8. 
111 Id. 
112 Ex. 4 at 33. 
113 Id. 
114 Id. 
115 Id. 



 

 19 

 

80. If the Township incorporates as a city, it anticipates contracting for legal 
services for criminal prosecution responsibilities, at an estimated cost of $25,000 
annually.116 

 
81. The Sherburne County Sheriff’s Office currently provides public safety and 

policing services for the Township, as well as 911 emergency response services.117 The 
Sherburne County Sheriff’s Office is staffed with 86 sworn officers and employs a total of 
308 staff.118 The Sheriff’s Office has an extensive roster of vehicles, equipment, and 
operational capacities, including 40 squad cars, a mobile command center, armored 
vehicles, and drones.119 Among its services, the Sheriff’s Office has criminal investigators, 
a drug task force, a SWAT team, an underwater dive team, computer forensic and crime 
lab capabilities, and a dedicated emergency operations center, all of which serve the 
Township.120 If needed, 15 to 20 officers can be on scene for a public safety event in the 
Township.121 

 

82. If the Township incorporates as a city, the Sheriff’s Office will continue to 
provide the same level of law enforcement and emergency response support without the 
need to execute a contract for public safety services.122 

 
83. The Township established its fire department in 2003.123 The Township 

provides fire and emergency medical services to all properties in the Township and has 
a contract for its services with neighboring Blue Hill Township.124 

 

84. The Township currently employs 33 firefighters, some of whom also work 
for the City’s fire department.125 The Township is authorized to have 35 firefighters.126 

 
85. The Township’s fire station is centrally located within the Township’s land 

and is near to U.S. Highway 169, which is the major roadway bisecting the Township.127 
The fire station’s location provides for speedy access to Township properties.128 All calls 
for service are currently routed through the Sherburne County Sheriff’s Office, which is 
the Public Safety Answering Point (PSAP) for the Township.129 

 
86. The Township has a Capital Improvement Plan for the fire department that 

anticipates the purchase of a new water tender and a new pumper truck between 2027 

 
116 Ex. 3 at 25; Test. of B. Lawrence. 
117 Test. of Sheriff Joel Brott. 
118 Id.  
119 Id. 
120 Id.  
121 Id. 
122 Id. 
123 Test. of Fire Chief Scott Case. 
124 Id. 
125 Id. 
126 Id.; Ex. 3 at 10. 
127 Test. of S. Case. 
128 Id. 
129 Id. 



 

 20 

 

and 2029.130 The Township estimates that together these vehicles will cost approximately 
$1,350,000.131 

 
87.  Due to concerns that the fire department is outgrowing its current space, 

the Township purchased 30 acres of land for a future administrative and fire hall 
building.132 While the Township does not have a firm cost estimate for the building 
currently, the cost is expected to fall in the range of $7 million to $9 million.133 

 

88. Since 2016, the Township has maintained and operated a community 
sewage treatment system (CSTS) serving the Frontier Trails subdivision via a subordinate 
service district, which provides sanitary sewer services to the residents of this 
subdivision.134 Currently, the Township’s sewer utility fund runs at a deficit because rates 
have not kept pace with expenses.135 The Township will be required to increase rates for 
users of the Frontier Trails system whether it incorporates or not.136 Five other 
subdivisions receive sanitary sewer services though a CSTS operated by a homeowner’s 
association.137 The Township is able to create additional subordinate service districts if 
needed to operate failing systems.138 

 

89. Other than the six subdivisions, most properties in the Township utilize 
individual septic systems, or Subsurface Sewage Treatment Systems (SSTS).139 The 
Township regulates existing and new septic systems.140 Most of the properties in the 
Township obtain drinking water from private wells.141 These wells are regulated by the 
Minnesota Department of Natural Resources and the Minnesota Department of Health.142 

 

90. The present pattern of development and build-out of Township property, 
along with natural features, such as wetlands and floodplains, are barriers to the 
deployment of centralized municipal sewer and water systems to serve the Township.143 

 

91. The Township maintains two public parks with recreational opportunities, 
including beaches, boat launches, and rain gardens.144 
 

 
130 Id.; Ex. 3 at 10. 
131 Ex. 3 at 10. 
132 Ex. 4 at 34; Test. of S. Case. 
133 Test. of S Case. 
134 Ex. 1 at 7; Ex. 4 at 34; Test. of J. Swanson; Test. of B. Lawrence. 
135 Ex. 3 at 12. 
136 Id. 
137 Ex. 1 at 7. 
138 Ex. 3 at 12. 
139 Ex. 1 at 7. 
140 Ex. 4 at 35. 
141 Ex. 1 at 7. 
142 Id. 
143 Id. at 8, 10-11; Ex. 4 at 14. 
144 Ex. 4 at 34; Test. of B. Lawrence. 



 

 21 

 

92. The Township maintains its local streets and their connections with the 
minor arterials and collectors overseen by Sherburne County.145 

 
93. The Township plans for street maintenance and park maintenance and 

improvement on an as-needed basis.146 
 

94. The Township obtains some funds relating its parks, such as funding for 
trails, from the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources.147 

 

95. With the exception of U.S. Highway 169, all other roadways are within the 
jurisdiction of the Township or Sherburne County.148 The Township maintains 82.7 miles 
of roads.149 

 
96. The Township engages in annual capital improvement planning for an 

active street reconstruction and pavement management program designed to maintain 
its roadways.150 As noted above, the Township plans for major road construction work, 
which is generally financed through property tax funds and bonds.151 The capital 
improvement plan calls for $2.5 million in annual street construction projects over the next 
eight years, which will need to be completed whether or not the Township incorporates.152 

 

97. If the Township incorporates as a city, it will become eligible for Municipal 
State Aid (MSA) funding for streets. MSA funding is governed by Minn. Stat. § 162.09 
(2022), and is available to Minnesota cities with a population of 5,000 or more 
residents.153 MSA funds are calculated using two factors: (1) a population allocation, 
based on the assessment that larger communities need greater funding; and (2) a “needs” 
allocation, which is based on the cost to rehabilitate, reconstruct, or build MSA qualified 
roads.154 The formula for MSA funding considers a city’s needs based on the cost of 
constructing and maintaining the MSA street system for 25 years.155 

 

98. The MSA funding population allocation for the Township, based on its 
population of 7,043 and a rate of $26.09 per person, is estimated to be $183,752.156 
Based on the miles and types of roadways within the Township, the Township estimates 
its need based MSA funding allocation will be $353,195.157 

 

 
145 Ex. 4 at 27; Test. of S. Nelson; Test. of B. Lawrence; Test. of J. Swanson. 
146 Test. of B. Lawrence; Ex. 3 at 10. 
147 Test. of B. Lawrence. 
148 Ex. 3 at 10. 
149 Id. 
150 Test. of B. Lawrence; Test. of S. Nelson; Ex. 3 at 10. 
151 Ex. 3 at 19. Test. of S. Nelson; Test. of B. Lawrence. 
152 Ex. 3 at 10. 
153 Id. at 15-16; Test. of S. Nelson. 
154 Ex. 1 at 1-2. 
155 Minn. Stat. § 162.13, subd. 2 (2022). 
156 Ex. 1 at 1-2. 
157 Id. at 3-5. 



 

 22 

 

99. In all, if it incorporates as a city, the Township estimates that it could receive 
MSA funds in the amount of $536,947 annually based its present population and road 
system if it incorporates as a city.158 Approximately $134,237 will become available for 
maintenance of existing roads and the remaining allocation can be used for construction 
or reconstruction of MSA-eligible routes.159 

  
100. Over a ten-year period, the Township estimates it will receive approximately 

$4 million in MSA funding if it incorporates as a city.160 This funding source is not available 
if the Township retains its current form.161 
 

101. If it incorporates as a city, the Township will gain the authority to use tax 
increment financing (TIF) to promote economic development and to help bring industrial 
development to the community.162 As a township, the Township is unable to use this tool 
without special legislation or the creation of a TIF district by Sherburne County, which 
would then control the use of TIF funding.163 Currently there are no TIF districts within the 
Township.164 
 

102. The Township is currently providing a level of services consistent with the 
operations of a small city in Minnesota.165 It is difficult for the Township to plan, finance, 
and deliver a level of services consistent with the Township’s suburbanization while 
retaining a township form of government, because of its uncertainty regarding tax 
revenues, the unavailability of MSA funding, and the lack of independent TIF authority.166 
Incorporation will facilitate economic and efficient delivery of the Township’s services.167 

 

103. The record reflects that incorporation will not change the quality, quantity, 
or scope of any of the services currently provided by the Township to its residents. 

 
G. Any existing or potential environmental problems and whether the 

proposed action is likely to improve or resolve these problems. 

104. The Township primarily manages stormwater using open ditches and 
roadway culverts.168 Stormwater basins provide water quality treatment, rate control, and 
flood protection, before water is discharged to the natural drainage system.169 Baldwin 
Township’s Subdivision Ordinance regulates stormwater management and erosion 

 
158 Id. at 5. 
159 Ex. 3 at 15. The remaining amount would be held in an account for the benefit of a city, where the funding 
accumulates from year to year until the city is ready to undertake qualified construction projects. Id. at 16. 
Cities may also borrow against future allocations to complete street projects more expeditiously. Id. 
160 Id. 
161 Id. 
162 Id. at 31. 
163 Id. at 32. 
164 Id. 
165 Id. at 33. 
166 Ex. 4 at 38. 
167 Id. 
168 Id. at 12; see also Ex. 1 at 7. 
169 Ex. 1 at 7; Ex. 4 at 12. 



 

 23 

 

control.170 All new developments are required to control surface water or stormwater 
runoff to the same or a greater degree than the conditions that existed predevelopment.171 

 
105. The Township regulates septic system permitting, inspection and 

monitoring.172 The Township’s land use ordinances require a minimum of 2.5 acres of 
land for any single-family residential lot, with a minimum of 40,000 square feet of buildable 
land for structures and an SSTS.173 In addition, a Certificate of Compliance is required for 
an existing SSTS any time a building permit is issued for a property or if there is a property 
sale.174 

 

106. Currently, six subdivisions within the Township are served by a CSTS.175 
Five of these systems are privately operated by homeowners’ associations, while the sixth 
is the Frontier Trails system operated by the Township.176 

 

107. The Township received a petition for wastewater services and for the 
creation of a subordinate service district related to the Frontier Trails subdivision in 
2014.177 The Township established the subordinate service district in 2015, and began 
operating the Frontier Trials CSTS in 2016.178 The system operates under a permit issued 
by the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency and the Township has a license to operate the 
system.179 The Township anticipates that it will continue operating this system in the 
foreseeable future.180 

 

108. If any of the other existing CSTS systems experience operational failure, 
the Township can create another subordinate service district to address the issue.181 One 
subdivision, Nordwall Estates, may require intervention from the Township in the future.182 
Under its zoning and subdivision ordinances, the Township no longer allows for the 
creation of new CSTS infrastructure, limiting the number of systems that the Township 
may need to address in the future.183 

 

109. As noted above, the Township has established several environmental 
protection zoning districts related to shoreland management, public waters, and floodplain 
management.184 

 
170 Ex. 4 at 12, 35. 
171 Id. at 12. 
172 Id. at 35. 
173 Id. at 31. 
174 Id. at 31, 35. 
175 Ex. 1 at 7. 
176 Id. 
177 Id. 
178 Id. 
179 Test. of J. Swanson; Test. of B. Lawrence. 
180 Ex. 1 at 7. 
181 Id. 
182 Test. of S. Nelson. 
183 Ex. 4 at 34. 
184 Id. at 31. 



 

 24 

 

110. The City has expressed concerns regarding the vulnerability of its Drinking 
Water Supply Management Area (DWSMA). The City’s DWSMA extends into the northern 
part of the Township.185 Two of its primary public drinking water wells are located near 
the Township.186 The City notes that “[i]f [the] Township is allowed to incorporate and 
provide for smaller lot rural subdivisions without establishing a municipal wastewater 
collection and treatment system, there is the potential for the [City’s] drinking water to be 
adversely impacted.”187 

 

111. The City’s concern is based on events that may or may not occur if the 
Township incorporates. On the record presented here, there is no basis to find that the 
Township’s incorporation will negatively impact the City’s drinking water supply. 

 
112. The record reflects that the Township has taken steps to manage 

environmental hazards and risks. There is no evidence that there is a known 
environmental problem that would bear on whether the Township should be incorporated. 

 
H. The fiscal impact on the subject area and adjacent units of local 

government, including present bonded indebtedness; local tax rates 
of the county, school district, and other governmental units, including, 
where applicable, the net tax capacity of platted and unplatted lands 
and the division of homestead and nonhomestead property; and other 
tax and governmental aid issues. 

 
113. The Township is the ninth largest township in Minnesota when measured 

by tax base.188 The Township’s financial revenues and the diversity of its revenue sources 
are more similar to incorporated cities than other townships in Minnesota.189 

 
114. The Township’s budget is funded by a levy enacted by residents who attend 

an annual meeting.190 Generally, between 20 and 40 electors, who are Township 
residents at least 18 years old, gather to vote for Township officers and the levy.191 The 
electors may approve the requested budget or may approve a higher or lower levy.192 
This taxing mechanism creates uncertainty about the amount of funding the Township will 
have available to fund planned projects.193 

 

115. The Township’s budget for 2023 was $1.3 million.194 The Township’s 2024 
budget is $1.6 million, while its budget for 2025 is projected to be $1.7 million.195 When a 

 
185 Test. of Jennifer Edison. 
186 See City of Princeton Evidentiary Testimony Opposing Baldwin Township Incorporation; Exs. 102-103. 
187 City of Princeton Evidentiary Testimony Opposing Baldwin Township Incorporation at 2. 
188 Ex. 3 at 12. 
189 Id. 
190 Id. at 9; Test. of B. Lawrence. 
191 Test. of B. Lawrence; Ex. 1 at 21. 
192 Id. 
193 Id.; Ex. 3 at 9. 
194 Test. of J. Heinen. 
195 Id. 



 

 25 

 

community’s budget reaches that size, it can be difficult to fully address budget issues at 
a short annual meeting, and to ensure consistent funding for governmental operations 
and planned expenses.196 

 

116. Property tax rates are determined by spreading the levy over the property 
value in the Township, which is the Township’s net tax capacity. The Township’s tax rates 
have been declining since 2018, due to growth in the Township’s tax base.197 The 
Township will continue to need nearly the same level of services whether or not it 
incorporates, but the Township anticipates having a lower tax rate if it incorporates than 
it would otherwise, due to the infusion of state funding.198 Without incorporation, and with 
anticipated spending on roads and other infrastructure, the Township could experience 
an increase in its tax rate of 26 percent.199 

 

117. Currently, the Township’s tax rate is lower than that of all of its surrounding 
cities, and lower than all but one of its surrounding townships.200 

 

118. In 2017, the Township issued a Certificate of Indebtedness in the amount 
of $2,235,000 to finance street improvement projects and the SSTS for the Frontier Trails 
subdivision.201 The Township’s remaining indebtedness amounts to $720,000.202 The 
Township will pay the balance in full by 2027, but the debt service is a fixed cost.203 If 
electors do not fully fund the levy each year, the Township is still required to make debt 
payments.204 If a portion of the Township’s tax base is annexed by another community, 
the amount of taxes assessed on the remaining properties will increase in order to 
adequately fund the Township’s debt payments.205 

 

119. The Township is not currently rated by a major credit rating agency.206 The 
Township intends to seek a rating in connection with its issuance of bonds for 2025 street 
projects.207 A community’s tax base is a key element in an assessment of 
creditworthiness and the ability to fulfill its financial obligations.208 Seventy-nine percent 
of the Township’s revenue comes from its property tax levy, making solidification of its 
tax base a substantial concern.209 If the Township’s tax base erodes, the Township could 
receive a lower bond rating, resulting in higher interest costs and the potential for 
increased taxes on the remaining properties.210 

 
196 Ex. 3 at 9. 
197 Id. at 24. 
198 Id. 
199 Id. at 26. 
200 Id. 
201 Id. at 22. 
202 Id. at 27. 
203 Id. at 22, 27. 
204 Test. of Todd Hagen. 
205 Ex. 3 at 22. 
206 Id. at 27. 
207 Id. 
208 Id. 
209 Id. 
210 Id. at 27-28. 



 

 26 

 

120. The Township has a general fund as well as a variety of special revenue, 
capital project, debt, and proprietary funds.211 The Township is in a strong financial 
position. In 2025 the Township anticipates having 146 percent of the next year’s operating 
budget in reserve, declining to 130 percent by 2029.212 

 

121. The Township issues general obligation debt, oversees debt administration, 
and engages in budgeting and long-range financial planning.213 The Township prepares 
a consolidated annual financial report and has audited financial statements.214 

 
122. If the Township incorporates, it will be eligible for $536,947 in MSA funding, 

as discussed above.215 
 

123. After incorporation, the Township may also become eligible for Local 
Government Aid (LGA).216 LGA is a municipal funding mechanism through which the 
State of Minnesota provides general purpose aid to Minnesota cities through a budget 
appropriation based on a statutory formula.217 

 

124. Following incorporation, the Township will need to obtain special legislation 
to establish an “existing” LGA amount as a basis for future funding calculations.218 If it 
does so, it will be eligible for LGA in the amount of $210,000.219 The Township would 
designate one-half of this LGA funding to purchase a new fire truck and the other one-
half for the General Fund to cover governmental operating expenses.220 

 
125. If it incorporates, the Township anticipates its expenditures will increase by 

approximately $25,000 to fund a contract for legal services for criminal prosecution.221 
The Township does not anticipate any other additional expenditures for governmental 
services if it incorporates.222 

 
126. Had the Township been a city in 2023, it would have received an additional 

$300,000 in public safety state aid. This funding was not available to townships.223 
 
127. If incorporated as a city, the Township could also utilize TIF funding to 

encourage economic development.224 

 
211 Id. at 19. 
212 Id.; Test. of T. Hagen. 
213 Test. of T. Hagen. 
214 Id.; Ex. 3 at 8, 14. 
215 Ex. 1 at 5. 
216 Ex. 3 at 14-15. 
217 See Minn. Stat. §§ 477A.011-.40 (2022). 
218 Ex. 3 at 15. 
219 Id.; Test. of T. Hagen. 
220 Ex. 3 at 15. 
221 Id. at 25; Test. of B. Lawrence. 
222 Test. of T. Hagen; Test. of B. Lawrence. 
223 Test. of S. Case. 
224 Id. at 31-32. 



 

 27 

 

128. Incorporation will stabilize the Township’s borders and preserve its tax 
base, while allowing the new city to assess taxes approved by an elected city council, 
creating greater stability in the Township’s finances.225 It will also have access to 
additional funding sources, as described above, offsetting anticipated costs for road 
maintenance and capital improvements for the fire department.226 

 
I. The relationship and effect of the proposed action on affected and 

adjacent school districts and communities. 

129. The Township is served by two different school districts.227 Nearly all of the 
Township’s properties are in the Princeton Public School District (ISD 477), while four 
properties on the Township’s southern boundary are in the Elk River-Otsego-Rogers-
Zimmerman School District (ISD 728).228 
 

130. Incorporation is not expected to have an immediate impact on the tax 
capacity, tax rate, or credit ratings of Sherburne County or the two school districts that 
serve the Township. However, additional growth in the Township’s tax base as a city may 
result in a marginal benefit to Sherburne County and the school districts over time.229 

 

131. The Townships of Greenbush, Orrock, Princeton, Blue Hill, Livonia, and 
Spencer Brook approved resolutions supporting the incorporation of the Township.230 
These resolutions suggest that these communities will not be adversely impacted by 
incorporation. No other townships that abut the Township or touch its corners took action 
either in favor of or opposed to the Township’s Petition, suggesting a lack of impact on 
these communities if the Township incorporates. This record contains no basis to 
conclude that any of the surrounding Townships will be negatively impacted by the 
Township’s incorporation. 

 

132. The City, which borders the Township to the north, opposes incorporation 
of the Township. The City notes that incorporation of the Township will halt its own 
planned growth into the area of the Township and impact the return on its investment in 
its water and sewer infrastructure, leaving its residents to bear the full cost of its system.231 

 

133. The City has few remaining properties within its boundaries that can still be 
developed.232 If the Township incorporates, its border with the City will be solidified and 
the City will be unable to use some types of boundary adjustment proceedings to annex 
Township lands. Instead, if land were to change hands between the City and the 

 
225 Id. at 33. 
226 Ex. 1 at 5; Ex. 3 at 15; Test. of T. Hagen; Test. of S. Case; Test. of B. Lawrence. 
227 Ex. 4 at 36. 
228 Id. 
229 Ex. 3 at 28-29. 
230 Ex. 14. 
231 City of Princeton Evidentiary Testimony Opposing Baldwin Township Incorporation at 4; see also Exs. 
109-110 (depicting the City’s planned future sewer and water service extending into the Township). 
232 Test. of J. Edison. 



 

 28 

 

Township following the Township’s incorporation, such a transfer would be initiated as a 
concurrent detachment and annexation proceeding.233 

 

134. The City developed its Comprehensive Sanitary Sewer System Plan as a 
planning document.234 The City considers the plan as a “hypothetical” scenario and only 
plans to offer water and sewer expansion if requested by a developer or landowner.235 
According to the City’s Engineer, it would not be feasible or cost effective to extend 
municipal water and sewer services to developments made up of 2.5 acre lots.236 In order 
to service properties within the Township’s current area, larger lots would need to be 
subdivided.237 There are barriers to extension of municipal water and sewer in the 
Township based on existing patterns of development and natural features, such as 
wetlands, floodplains, and the Rum River.238 

 

J. Whether delivery of services to the subject area can be adequately and 
economically delivered by the existing government. 

135. As noted above, the Township currently provides a slate of governmental 
services to its residents, either through its own employees or by using outside contractors 
to obtain services.239 

 
136. The level of services currently provided is similar to those offered by small 

cities in Minnesota.240 
 

137. Planning, financing, and delivering the current level of services within the 
Township’s existing governmental structure has become complex and uncertain, 
particularly in connection with ensuring adequate financing the Township’s current 
expenditures and anticipated investments.241 

 

138. The Township’s existing structure does not allow it to obtain MSA or LGA 
funding, or to utilize TIF to encourage economic development. As noted above, these 
funding sources and tools would be available if the Township incorporates.242 
 

139. The Township currently relies on the participation of a small number of 
residents to set the levy for the entire community at its annual meeting, with some 
possibility that the electors will not approve a sufficient levy to support existing operations 
and infrastructure improvements.243 Incorporation would centralize decision-making 

 
233 See Minn. Stat. § 414.061 (2022). 
234 Test. of J. Edison; See Ex. 28. 
235 Test. of J. Edison. 
236 Id. 
237 Id. 
238 Ex. 1 at 8. 
239 See Section F above. 
240 Ex. 3 at 4, 9, 12. 
241 Ex. 4 at 38. 
242 See Sections F and H above. 
243 Ex. 1 at 22. 



 

 29 

 

authority in an elected city council, providing some assurance as to the availability and 
consistency of funding for governmental operations and expenditures.244 

 
140.  Incorporation would solidify the Township’s tax base, which is the source 

of a substantial portion of its revenue for operating expenses.245 Ensuring a consistent 
tax base is also important for obtaining a favorable credit rating for issuance of debt, 
resulting in lower interest rates and project costs for planned community investments.246 
Incorporation would prevent erosion of the Township’s lands and tax base by annexation 
to other communities. Without incorporation, it is possible that the City could seek to 
annex portions of the Township’s lands, depriving the Township of those residents and 
tax base. For example, in 2021, the City annexed a portion of the Township containing a 
mobile home park that had around 250 residents.247 

 
K. An analysis of whether necessary governmental services can best be 

provided through the proposed action or another type of boundary 
adjustment. 

141. As noted above, incorporation will meet many of the Township’s needs as 
it continues its pattern of suburban development and embarks on planned investments in 
infrastructure for roads and its fire department. Also as noted above, the City is currently 
providing services consistent with those of a small city in Minnesota. Incorporation will 
make available additional funding and economic development tools, as well as enhance 
the Township’s ability to obtain consistent funding through a centralized, representative 
governmental structure. The Township has considered incorporation as a possibility for 
many years and seeks to incorporate now so that its governmental structure will be a 
better match for its operations, obligations, and goals.248 

 
142. The City did not file a petition for annexation or participate as a party in this 

proceeding. Rather, the City requests that incorporation be denied and that this order 
“grant” annexation of lands within the Township to the City.249 

 

143. The area that the City requests be annexed to it covers approximately half 
of the Township and is depicted on the map below.250 

 
244 Ex. 1 at 1, 21-22; Ex. 3 at 9. 
245 Ex. 3 at 26-27. 
246 Id. at 22, 27. 
247 Id. at 33; Test. of J. Swanson. 
248 Test. of J. Swanson; Test. of B. Lawrence. 
249 Test. of Michelle McPherson; Ex. 101. The City’s request is discussed in greater detail in the 
accompanying Memorandum. 
250 Ex. 101. The City did not provide a legal description specifically identifying the property in its desired 
annexation area. 



 

 30 

 

 
 

144. The portion of the Township that the City seeks to annex is included in the 
City’s planned southeast and south sewer districts under its Comprehensive Sanitary 
Sewer System Plan.251 These areas are identified in Phases 3 and 4 of the plan,252 for 
which the buildout cost is projected at $52.6 million in Phase 3; and $52.2 million in Phase 
4.253 These figures are based on estimated 2019 construction costs and do not factor in 
streets, easements, and other miscellaneous costs.254 

 
145. According to the City’s Engineer, the City considers the Comprehensive 

Sanitary Sewer System Plan to be a hypothetical document to be used as an aid for 
planning purposes.255 The City expands its services upon request by a property owner or 
developer.256 The City does not have a concrete, present plan to extend this service into 

 
251 Ex. 28 at 25-26, Figure (Fig.) 6-1. 
252 Id. at Fig. 7-1. 
253 Id. at 29. 
254 Id. 
255 Test. of J. Edison. 
256 Id. 



 

 31 

 

its desired annexation area.257 For service to be extended, existing lots would need to be 
subdivided, and providing service to other developments with 2.5 acre lots is not 
financially feasible.258 

 

146. At this time, with the exception of those subdivisions served by CSTS 
infrastructure operated by homeowner’s associations and the Township, properties in the 
Township have individual SSTS regulated by the Township.259 There is no evidence that 
the Township’s regulatory oversight of these systems is inadequate or that there are risks 
to the community based on septic system failures that would necessitate the extension of 
municipal water and sewer services. 
 

147. The City provides its residents with a full range of municipal services, such 
as police and fire departments, public works, planning and zoning, budgeting and 
administrative services, and elections.260 The type and scope of services that the City 
provides is generally consistent with the services the Township provides to its residents, 
and would continue to provide if it incorporates. 
 

148. Calls for emergency services to the City’s fire department are routed 
through dispatch in Mille Lacs County, whereas the Township’s calls are paged through 
Sherburne County’s PSAP.261 Any Township properties annexed into the City would be 
subject to emergency call routing to Mille Lacs County first, even though they are located 
in Sherburne County. which results in a one-to-two-minute delay in answering those 
calls.262 

 

149. The City and Township have agreed to annexation to the City of 31.39 acres 
of land within the Township pursuant to an orderly annexation agreement under  
Minn. Stat. § 414.0325 (2022). Annexation of this property is approved by issuance of an 
Order Approving Annexation on July 16, 2024.263 As a result, this property is excepted 
from the incorporation area. 

L. The degree of contiguity of the boundaries of the subject area and 
adjacent units of local government. 

150. Most of the Township’s boundaries have been stable since it was 
reorganized in 1877.264 

 
257 Id. 
258 Id. 
259 Ex. 1 at 7; Ex. 4 at 35. 
260 Test. of M. McPherson; Test. of Shawna Jenkins Tadych; Test. of Stacy Marquardt; Test. of Thom 
Walker; Test. of Bob Gerold; Test. of J. Edison. 
261 Test. of S. Case. 
262 Id. 
263 In the Matter of the Orderly Annexation of Certain Real Property to the City of Princeton from Baldwin 
Township (MBAU Docket OA-1894-1), OAH Docket No. 71-0331-40140. 
264 Ex. 4 at 4. 



 

 32 

 

151. The Township’s northern boundary with the City, however, has changed 
over the years as a result of piecemeal annexations.265 

 
152. There is no boundary adjustment possible that will improve the contiguity of 

the current boundaries between the Township and its neighbors.266 
 

153. Pursuant to the City and Township’s Orderly Annexation Agreement, a 
31.39 acre property in the Township is annexed to the City by issuance of a separate 
Order Approving Annexation, which is issued simultaneously with this Order.267 

 

154.  Incorporation will serve to maintain and preserve the contiguity of the 
Township’s current boundaries.268 

 
M. An analysis of the applicability of the State Building Code. 

155. Township Ordinance 920 adopted the State Building Code by reference in 
2022.269 The Township contracts with a consultant to act as a Building Official to 
administer the State Building Code throughout the entire community.270 As a city, the 
Township will be required to continue enforcing the State Building Code.271 Accordingly, 
incorporation will have no impact on its applicability to properties within the Township.272 

IV. Summary of Public Comments 

156. This tribunal received over 200 comments from members of the public at 
the public hearing and through written submissions. Due to the number of comments 
received, this Order does not address every comment individually. Instead, this Order 
provides a summary and discusses representative comments on the issues raised by 
commenters related to the Township’s Petition and the City’s request for annexation. 

 
157. Some commenters support the Township’s Petition. James and Beth 

Carlson write that they and their fellow Township residents are invested in their way of 
life. They see incorporation as a city as a way to preserve the nature of the community 
and promote self-governance.273 Brad Chambers contends that incorporation will “assure 
[the Township’s] residents that they can continue to live the lifestyle that they love.” He 
further notes the need for the community to retain its businesses and tax base to be 
successful.274 Jeremy Evans explained that discussions about incorporation also 

 
265 Id. at 40. 
266 Id. 
267 ORDER APPROVING ANNEXATION, In the Matter of the Orderly Annexation of Certain Real Property to the 
City of Princeton from Baldwin Township (MBAU Docket OA-1894-1), OAH Docket No. 71-0331-40140 
(July 16, 2024). 
268 Id. 
269 Id. 
270 Id. 
271 Minn. Stat. § 326B.121 (2022). 
272 Id.; Ex. 55. 
273 Comment of James and Beth Carlson (Mar. 22, 2024). 
274 Comment of Brad Chambers (Mar. 20, 2024). 



 

 33 

 

occurred in 2012. He believes that the Township should have pursued incorporation then, 
and he supports the effort to incorporate now.275 Jerry and Cheryl Fleck state: “Please 
consider incorporation to city status, which we’re sure is the popular sentiment of all our 
residents.”276 Nancy Gustafson writes: “I think Baldwin Township should incorporate and 
reap the benefits of being a city.”277 Rodney and Nicole Haataja are concerned about the 
potential for annexation of portions of the Township to the City and possible increases in 
taxes for annexed properties, as well as the erosion of the Township’s tax base. They 
state: “We don’t see a winning situation for the citizens of Baldwin Township other than 
becoming a city which brings with it state aid and a stop to the threats of annexation by 
the city of Princeton.”278 Similarly, Scott Bruce supports incorporation because it will 
protect the Township’s borders from annexation by the City or other communities.279 Jeff 
Iisakka is “100% in favor of changing Baldwin Township’s status from Township to 
City.”280 Joshua and Maria Krenz believe that the Township has evolved and that 
incorporation will ensure that the Township has the necessary government structure to 
meet the needs of the community.281 David Pack notes that he has advocated for 
incorporation of the Township for the last ten years.282 Randy Atwood maintains that 
incorporation has been a hot topic in the community for years and that becoming a city 
would create stability for the community.283 

 
158. Other residents expressed support for the Township’s incorporation 

petition, even though they would prefer not to incorporate, because they see it as a means 
to resist annexation of Township lands by the City. Resident Pat Brown commented:  
“I would have liked to just stay Baldwin Township, but to secure our borders[,] let’s not 
allow Princeton to chomp us up like a Pac-man game.”284 Shelly Botzek states: “I ask that 
you consider keeping Baldwin Township as it is, however if the choice is [i]ncorporation 
or [t]he City of Princeton [a]nnexing[,] [p]lease allow the [i]ncorporation for Baldwin.”285 
Commenter Dan Engblom writes that he supports incorporation only if it is the only option 
available to avoid annexation by the City, and he strongly prefers for the Township to 
remain a township.286 Jeremy Alan Houle notes: “I support incorporation before 
annexation.”287 John Scharber would prefer for the Township to keep its current form, but 
states, “if I have to choose, I would rather Baldwin incorporate rather than Princeton 
annexing us in.”288 Michelle Vaughn indicates, “we would prefer for nothing to happen 

 
275 Comment of Jeremy Evans (Mar. 21, 2024). 
276 Comment of Jerry and Cheryl Fleck (Mar. 21, 2024). 
277 Comment of Nancy Gustafson (Mar. 15, 2024). 
278 Comment of Rodney and Nicole Haataja (Mar. 17, 2024). 
279 Comment of Scott Bruce (Public Comment Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with the 
Minn. Office Admin. Hearings)). 
280 Comment of Jeff Iisakka (Mar. 15, 2024). 
281 Comment of Joshua and Maria Krenz (Mar. 6, 2024). 
282 Comment of David Pack (Mar. 22, 2024). 
283 Comment of Randy Atwood (Public Comment Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with the 
Minn. Office Admin. Hearings)). 
284 Comment of Pat Brown (Mar 7, 2024). 
285 Comment of Shelly Botzek (Mar. 18, 2024). 
286 Comment of Dan Engblom (Mar. 19, 2024). 
287 Comment of Jeremy Alan Houle (Mar. 19, 2024). 
288 Comment of John Scharber (Mar. 21, 2024). 



 

 34 

 

either way but would definitely rather become the city of Baldwin as opposed to 
annexation.”289 Melissa West commented: “I’m o.k. with staying a township or 
incorporate[ng], anything to keep Princeton from the annexation of properties, including 
mine.”290 

 
159. There were also commenters who did not take a firm position in favor of or 

against incorporation, or who indicated that they would not oppose it. The Kleingartner 
family is “okay with Baldwin becoming a city.”291 Verna A. Jenson states: “I would not 
mind if Baldwin Township [i]ncorporated and became the City of Baldwin.”292 Tom and 
Terri Lorentz and Ron and Amanda Lorentz Nilsen state: “We do not know if our township 
totally qualifies for city incorporation but we do understand why our board is taking the 
action to incorporate[.]”293 William Maki states: “Regarding incorporation as a city or 
remaining as a township – we are indifferent.”294 Eric and Barbara Chapin commented: 
“As to the actual matter of incorporation of Baldwin Township, my feelings are 
undecided.”295 

 

160. Some commenters oppose incorporation. Jerald Arnhalt expressed: “If it 
was up to me, I would leave everything as it is!!! Period!!!”296 Jeremy Blonigan is 
concerned about an increase in his taxes and urges: “Please allow us to remain the way 
it is.”297 Matt Johnson also opposes incorporation. He moved to the Township because 
he wanted “country living” and he believes that if the Township incorporates residents will 
have to live by city rules.298 Mr. Johnson expressed the concern that a new city would 
seek federal funding and be required to set aside land for Section 8 housing.299 Brian 
Kovar similarly writes: “Baldwin Township should stay a township.”300 Dave Carlson asks 
that the Petition be denied. He objects to receipt of additional state aid for roads if the 
Township becomes a city because he prefers for the additional funds to be found 
elsewhere.301 Steve and Susan Burnham believe that they would be adversely affected 
by both incorporation and annexation and oppose both possibilities.302 Mark Craft does 
not believe that there is a pressing need for the Township to incorporate. He proposes 
that the Township continue to work on incorporation as a community project for future 
consideration.303 

 

 
289 Comment of Michelle Vaughn (Mar. 12, 2024). 
290 Comment of Melissa West (Mar. 14, 2024). 
291 Comment of the Kleingartner family (Mar. 16, 2024). 
292 Comment of Verna A. Jensen (Mar. 19, 2024). 
293 Comment of Tom and Terri Lorentz and Ron and Amanda Lorentz Nilsen (Mar. 15, 2024). 
294 Comment of William Maki (Mar. 19, 2024). 
295 Comment of Eric and Barbara Chapin (Mar. 22, 2024). 
296 Comment of Jerald Arnhalt (Mar. 19, 2024). 
297 Comment of Jeremy Blonigan (Mar. 16, 2024). 
298 Comment of Matt Johnson (Public Comment Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with the 
Minn. Office Admin. Hearings)). 
299 Id. 
300 Comment of Brian Kovar (Mar. 22, 2024). 
301 Comment of Dave Carlson (Mar. 22, 2024). 
302 Comment of Steve and Susan Burnham (Mar. 18, 2024). 
303 Comment of Mark Craft (Mar. 21, 2024). 



 

 35 

 

161. A number of commenters expressed concern about the Town Board’s 
decision to pursue incorporation. Some indicated that they lacked information about the 
incorporation petition. Others asserted that the issue should have been put before the 
entire Township for a vote. Jeff and Krista Berry commented: “We honestly feel Baldwin 
Township has not given enough information or time to fully understand our choices of 
being Baldwin Township, or Baldwin City, or to be annexed to the City of Princeton.”304 
Eric and Suzanne Larson similarly state: “We do not want the petition to incorporate to go 
further. We don’t feel that enough planning and information was shared to make a proper 
decision on this matter.”305 Duane and Pam Burbank commented that they oppose 
incorporation, and believe that the Township’s Board should have put the issue to a 
vote.306 Similarly, Barbara Essig believes that members of the Town Board overstepped 
their authority by failing to bring their plan for incorporation up for a vote.307 Dr. Liz Kolb 
indicated that she would expect to be able to vote on community improvements. She 
believes that a “lack of clear information and community involvement in the primary 
decision of petitioning for incorporation is unconscionable.”308 Stacy and Darrin Marquardt 
report that discussions of incorporation occurred in the community between 10 to 15 years 
ago, but they state no discussions or informational meetings have occurred since then. 
They maintain that the Town Board’s filing of the Petition was “underhanded.”309 Chad and 
Kim Young ask that the Petition be denied, “even if it’s simply a pause,” to allow the 
Township Board to “be more planful, transparent and forthcoming with its residents and 
then perhaps resubmit.”310 Kyle Buffington maintains that a complete plan for incorporation 
should be developed and presented to Township residents for a vote.”311 Wayne Soens 
contends that: “Which ever way this goes[,] we have been cheated because of not being 
able to vote.”312 

 
162. Other residents are concerned about possible changes in the nature of their 

community if the Township incorporates or if some of its land is annexed to the City. Miriam 
Baer is concerned that lot sizes will be reduced if the Township becomes a city, and she 
asks whether the community will be required to build low income housing.313 Cheryl 
Benjamin writes that she and her husband like “country living and will likely sell and move 
out of the area if it is changed drastically….”314 Jeremy Bergmann is worried about the 
possibility of annexation to the City because he and his wife would be unable to continue 
raising cattle on their land and would have to move.315 Charlie Jones explained that his 
property is surrounded by farmland on all sides and that this provides “amazing tranquility 

 
304 Comment of Jeff and Krista Berry (Mar. 16, 2024). 
305 Comment of Eric and Suzanne Larson (Mar. 19, 2024.). 
306 Comment of Duane and Pam Burbank (Mar. 13, 2024). 
307 Comment of Barbara Essig (Mar. 18, 2024). 
308 Comment of Dr. Liz Kolb, MS, DVM (Mar. 18, 2024). 
309 Comment of Stacy and Darrin Marquardt (Mar. 13, 2024). 
310 Comment of Chad and Kim Young (Mar. 20, 2024). 
311 Comment of Kyle Buffington (Public Comment Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with 
the Minn. Office Admin. Hearings)). 
312 Comment of Wayne Soens (Mar. 19, 2024). 
313 Comment of Miriam Baer (Mar. 13, 2024). 
314 Comment of Cheryl Benjamin (Mar. 14, 2024). 
315 Comment of Jeremy Bergmann (Mar. 21, 2024). 



 

 36 

 

and peacefulness.”316 His granddaughter keeps her horse on his property and rides there 
frequently, and he is concerned that annexation of his property to the City would “devastate 
our way of living.”317 

 
163. Some residents do not believe that annexation of Township property by the 

City is a real or pressing possibility. Dean McDevitt writes: “I do not believe that Princeton 
has ever completed a hostile annexation or ever will.”318 Kevin McGinty and Kathleen 
Cooper each referred to concerns that the City would seek to annex portions of the 
Township as a “scare tactic.”319 Torsten and Lacy Wolff note that they “understand the 
concerns on the annexation, however, if Princeton wants to annex, they could have done 
this a few years ago.”320 

 

164. Commenters universally and strongly oppose annexation to the City. Robert 
and Dana Carlson write: “The proposed annexation by the City of Princeton threatens the 
very fabric of our community.”321 Amber Luckoff considers annexation to the City 
“emotionally devastating.” She states: “We would view it as an invasion of our personal 
space. Our home and property would become contaminated.”322 Sue Hix and her 
husband have lived in the Township for 30 years. She enjoys shopping in the City, but 
she likes returning home where her neighbors are close enough to share a campfire, but 
not close enough to see in each other’s windows.323 George Berning pleads: “Please don’t 
allow the annexation by the City of Princeton to happen. It doesn’t seem right to change 
everything we have built and love about our life here.”324 

 

165. Residents are also opposed to the extension of water and sewer service by 
the City into portions of the Township. Rene Simon describes her well water as “gloriously 
delicious,” and notes that she maintains the upkeep of her septic system.325 Theresa 
Anderman states that the cost of the City’s planned extension of water and sewer “would 
bankrupt us.”326 Andrew Kelly lives in the northeast corner of the Township on the Rum 
River. He believes that extension of city water and sewer into his area is a “pipe dream.”327 

 
316 Comment of Charlie Jones (Mar. 12, 2024). 
317 Id. 
318 Comment of Dean McDevitt (Mar. 17, 2024). 
319 Comment of Kevin McGinty (Mar. 21, 2024); Comment of Kathleen Cooper (Public Comment Hearing 
Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with the Minn. Office Admin. Hearings)). 
320 Comment of Torsten and Lacy Wolff (Mar. 20, 2024). 
321 Comment of Robert and Dana Carlson (Mar. 22, 2024). 
322 Comment of Amber Luckoff (Mar. 14, 2024). 
323 Comment of Sue Hix (Public Comment Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with the Minn. 
Office Admin. Hearings)). 
324 Comment of George Berning (Mar. 14, 2024). 
325 Comment of Rene Simon (Public Comment Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with the 
Minn. Office Admin. Hearings)). 
326 Comment of Theresa Anderman (Public Comment Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with 
the Minn. Office Admin. Hearings)). 
327 Comment of Andrew Kelly (Public Comment Hearing Digital Recording (Mar. 7, 2024) (on file with the 
Minn. Office Admin. Hearings)). 



 

 37 

 

V. Incorporation by Reference 

166. Any Conclusion of Law more properly considered to be a Finding of Fact is 
adopted herein. 

 
167. Any portion of the accompanying Memorandum that is more properly 

considered to be a Finding of Fact is incorporated herein. 

Based on these Findings of Fact, the Administrative Law Judge makes the 
following: 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

1. The Administrative Law Judge has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to 
Minn. Stat. ch. 414 (2022) and Minn. R. ch. 6000 (2023). 

 
2. All jurisdictional prerequisites in this matter are satisfied and the Amended 

Petition is properly before the Administrative Law Judge for disposition. 
 

3. Proper notice of the hearing in this matter was given. 
 

4. The Township has the necessary resources to provide for its economical 
and efficient operation as a city as contemplated by Minn. Stat. § 414.01, subd. 1a(3). 

 

5. The Township is suburban in character.328 The Township’s finances and its 
level of services are consistent with that of a small city, and it has developed in a 
suburbanized pattern, including through the extensive development of platted, residential 
subdivisions. 

 
6. Incorporation is required to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the Township.329 Because it is funded through a levy set by electors at an annual 
meeting, the Township faces uncertainty regarding its ability to finance its ongoing 
operations, pay down debt, and fund planned community investments. By incorporating, 
it will solidify its borders and preserve its tax base, provide for consistent revenues via 
taxation, and obtain access to municipal funding resources and economic development 
tools.  

 

7. Incorporation is in the best interests of the area proposed to be 
incorporated.330 The Township’s current governmental structure is inadequate to meet 
its needs because it functions and serves its residents in a manner more consistent with 
the operations of a small city. Incorporation will allow the Township to govern itself 
through a mayor and city council with authority to set tax rates. Incorporation will also 
solidify the Township’s borders and stabilize its tax base. 

 
328 Minn. Stat. § 414.02, subd. 3(b)(1). 
329 Id., subd. 3(b)(2). 
330 Id., subd. 3(b)(3). 



 

 38 

 

8. No part the Township would be better served by annexation to an adjacent 
municipality, other than the area designated in the City and Township’s Orderly 
Annexation Agreement and annexed to the City in MBAU Docket No. OA-1894-1.331 

 

9. Minn. Stat. § 414.02 does not provide authority for the annexation of land 
to another community. The City did not file a petition for annexation under Minn. Stat.  
§§ 414.031, .033. As a result, there is no legal basis for annexation of any portion of the 
Township to the City. 

 

10. Any Finding of Fact that is more properly considered to be a Conclusion of 
Law is incorporated herein. 

 

11. These Conclusions of Law are reached for the reasons explained in the 
following Memorandum, which is incorporated by reference. 

Based on these Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and for the reasons set 
forth in the following Memorandum, the Administrative Law Judge makes the following: 

ORDER 

1. The Amended Petition for Incorporation of Baldwin Township (I-75) is 
GRANTED. 

 
2. The Township shall hereby be incorporated as the City of Baldwin. 
 

3. The incorporated City of Baldwin shall consist of all property within the 
Township, as legally described in Finding No. 19 above. 

 

4. Incorporation shall be effective upon the election and qualification of the 
new City Council as set out in Paragraph 6 of this Order. 

 

5. The form of government for the City shall be “Optional Plan A.” An election 
of a mayor and four council members shall be held on November 5, 2024.332 

 
6. Joan Heinen shall be the acting clerk for the election and shall prepare the 

official ballot. Affidavits of candidacy shall be filed not more than four weeks and not less 
than two weeks before the date of the election. The polling place shall be the Baldwin 
Town Hall located at 30239 128th Street N.W., Baldwin Township, Minnesota. The 
election judges shall be appointed in the same manner as the Township has appointed 
election judges for prior State General Elections. The hours of the election shall be 7:00 
a.m. to 8:00 p.m. Candidates shall be permitted to file for the position of Mayor whose 

 
331 Id., subd. 3(c); see ORDER APPROVING ANNEXATION, In the Matter of the Orderly Annexation of Certain 
Real Property to the City of Princeton from Baldwin Township (MBAU Docket OA-1894-1), OAH Docket 
No. 71-0331-40140 (July 16, 2024).  
332 See Minn. Stat. § 205.10, subd. 3a(a) (2022) (establishing uniform election dates for city special 
elections). 



 

 39 

 

term shall expire on December 31, 2026, a Council Member seat whose term shall expire 
on December 31, 2026, or a Council Member seat whose term shall expire on December 
31, 2028. The two candidates filing for the Council Member seats expiring on December 
31, 2026, who receive the most votes shall be elected to terms ending December 31, 
2026. The two candidates filing for the Council Member seats expiring on December 31, 
2028, who receive the most votes shall be elected to terms ending December 31, 2028. 
As the aforementioned terms begin to expire, elections shall be held during the November 
general elections of the year of the above-referenced term expiration dates, commencing 
with the general election to be held on November 2, 2026. Thereafter, the terms for City 
Council Members and the Mayor shall be for four years and two years respectively, as 
provided in Minn. Stat. § 412.02, and municipal elections shall be held during the 
November general election in even years. The position of Mayor and all Council Member 
positions shall be at-large positions. In all other respects, the election shall be conducted 
in conformity with the provisions of the Minnesota Statutes concerning the conduct of 
municipal elections. 
  

7. The Township’s Ordinances, as well as all other land use and planning 
controls, and all licensing privileges, shall remain in effect within the boundaries of the 
City of Baldwin until repealed or replaced by the new governing body of the City of 
Baldwin. 

8. Upon incorporation, all money, claims, contract rights and obligations, 
equipment and property, including real estate owned, held or possessed by the former 
Baldwin Township, and any proceeds, special assessments or taxes levied by Baldwin 
Township, collected and uncollected, shall become the property of the City of Baldwin 
with full power and authority to use and dispose of for such public purposes as the City 
Council deems best, subject to claims of creditors. This will include cash reserves and 
fund balances of the Township and all public property and equipment held by Baldwin 
Township. 

9. The Township’s outstanding debt will become the financial obligation of the 
City of Baldwin. 

10. Pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 414.12, subd. 3, the costs of this proceeding are 
the obligation of the Township and shall be paid in their entirety by the Township. 

11. This Order is effective as of the date listed below. 

Dated: July 16, 2024 

_____________________________ 

JESSICA A. PALMER-DENIG 

Administrative Law Judge 

Reported: Digitally Recorded 
 No transcript prepared 



 

 40 

 

NOTICE 

This Order is the final administrative order in this case under Minn. Stat. §§ 414.02, 
414.07, 414.09, 414.12. Pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 414.07, subd. 2, any person aggrieved 
by this Order may appeal to Sherburne County District Court by filing an Application for 
Review with the Court Administrator within 30 days of this Order. An appeal does not stay 
the effect of this Order. 

Any party may submit a written request for an amendment of these Findings of 
Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order within seven days from the date of the mailing of the 
Order pursuant to Minn. R. 6000.3100. However, no request for amendment shall extend 
the time for appeal of this Order. 

MEMORANDUM 

 The Township has met its burden to show that it has satisfied the factors for 
incorporation and that it should be incorporated as the City of Baldwin under Minn. Stat. 
§ 414.02. Several issues raised in this proceeding, however, require additional 
discussion, including positions taken by the City and its request for annexation, and 
concerns expressed by residents of the Township. 

I. The City’s Arguments 
 

A. Whether the Township is Suburban 

 The court first takes up the City’s argument that the Township may not be 
incorporated because it is rural, rather than urban or suburban. First, Minn. Stat. § 414.02, 
subd. 3(b), provides that incorporation may be ordered on finding that: 

(1) the property to be incorporated is now, or is about to become, urban or 
suburban in character; or 

(2) that the existing township form of government is not adequate to protect 
the public health, safety, and welfare; or 

(3) the proposed incorporation would be in the best interests of the area 
under consideration. 

 The statute’s three bases for incorporation are stated as alternatives and a 
petitioning township is required to satisfy only one of these terms to support an order for 
incorporation. Even in the absence of a finding that a community is urban or suburban, 
incorporation may be ordered on the other bases. Here, the court finds all three are 
satisfied. 

Second, the City argues that the Township remains rural because it has objected 
to annexations solely because it wished to restrict growth. There are many reasons why 
a township would object to annexation of its property by a neighboring city. A township 
may wish to prevent the loss of part of its community. It may be attempting to stave off an 



 

 41 

 

erosion of the township’s tax base. It may also have concerns about whether annexation 
will render the remainder of the township unable to fulfill the functions of government. 

Third, the record supports determining that the Township is suburban. Over 50 
percent of the Township is zoned as residential and substantial portions of the Township 
have been developed into platted subdivisions.333 While approximately 40 percent of the 
Township’s land remains in agricultural production, that does not render the Township 
rural as a whole. Evidence offered at the hearing shows that the Township has been 
transitioning toward suburban development for some time, and that the Township’s 
financial structure, development plans, and level of services are consistent with those of 
a small city. 

B. Impacts on the City 

The City opposes incorporation on the basis that it will prevent the City from 
annexing Township lands to meet its own development goals. The City has little remaining 
land available for development.334 To increase the amount of available land for 
development, the City may decide to annex land from adjacent communities. The 
Township’s incorporation will eliminate the City’s ability to annex Township properties by 
ordinance, by order of this tribunal, or through an orderly annexation agreement, because 
only unincorporated property may be annexed using these tools.335 Instead, transfers of 
land between two cities must be accomplished through concurrent detachment and 
annexation under Minn. Stat. § 414.061. Such a proceeding may be initiated upon 
resolutions by both municipalities, or by a petition of the property owners and a resolution 
of one of the municipalities.336 

 Incorporation will solidify the Township’s border with the City and could prevent the 
City from fulfilling plans it may have had to expand its territory into the northern portion of 
the Township. This concern does not provide a basis to deny the Township’s petition to 
incorporate. If annexation of parcels in the Township was critical to the City’s development 
goals, it could have pursued annexation before the Township sought to incorporate. 

The City also objects to incorporation of the Township based on the City’s plan to 
extend water and sewer service into a substantial portion of the Township. The City 
argues that it will be unable to receive a return on its investments, leaving its own 
residents to bear the full cost of its system. This issue generated considerable evidence 
and argument at the hearing, and it was the subject of a number of public comments from 
Township residents. The record shows that the City developed a general plan for 
extension of its water and sewer infrastructure outside of its own municipal boundaries 
and into the northern half of the Township. At the same time, the evidence demonstrates 
that the City does not have a current, concrete plan to effectuate this service extension. 

 
333 Ex. 4 at 15; see also Ossawinnamakee Road Homeowners v. Comm’r of City of Breezy Point, A23-
1186, 2024 WL 1252065 (Minn. Ct. App. Mar. 25, 2024) (upholding determination that property was not 
rural based in part on the development of platted, residential lots). 
334 Test. of J. Edison. 
335 Minn. Stat. §§ 414.031, .0325, .033. 
336 Minn. Stat. § 414.061, subd. 1. 



 

 42 

 

The City’s Engineer referred to the plan as “hypothetical,” and noted that the City only 
extends service when requested by a property owner or developer.337 Further, evidence 
received at the hearing shows that there are barriers to the extension of service in some 
areas of the Township. Nevertheless if, at some time in the future, the portions of the 
Township identified in the City’s plan would benefit from extension of water and sewer 
services, the City and the City of Baldwin can negotiate a solution to that issue. The City’s 
concern does not provide a basis to deny the Township’s request to incorporate. 

 Finally, the City expressed concerns about the impact of incorporation on its 
DWSMA. The City stated that, “[i]f [the] Township is allowed to incorporate and provide 
for smaller lot rural subdivisions without establishing a municipal wastewater collection 
and treatment system, there is the potential for the [City’s] drinking water to be adversely 
impacted.”338 The Administrative Law Judge understands the City’s valid desire to protect 
the source of its drinking water. At the same time, the concern expressed is too theoretical 
to require denial of the Township’s Petition. There is no evidence that the Township will 
allow development of small-lot residential subdivisions; in fact, all evidence is to the 
contrary. The Township requires minimum lot sizes of 2.5 acres in order to accommodate 
an SSTS for each dwelling, and many properties are larger than that minimum lot size. 
Many commenters expressed their preference for large lot sizes, even suggesting that 
this was an essential part of the character of their community. While there is one 
subdivision, Nordwall Estates, with a CSTS that many require intervention by the 
Township at some point, there is no evidence that the Township’s regulation of septic 
systems is ineffective or that systems are generally at risk of failure in a manner that 
would harm the City’s DWSMA. The Administrative Law Judge encourages the City and 
the Township to engage in discussions about the best ways to protect the DWSMA and 
to work together to find solutions to address the City’s concern and any other issues the 
two communities may face. 

C. The City’s Request for Annexation 

The City alternatively requested that this tribunal order annexation of over 9,000 
acres of the Township to the City. The City did not become a party to this proceeding, 
and it did not file a competing petition for annexation. Rather, the City participated as 
provided in Minn. R. 6000.1200, and it requested that this tribunal “grant” the lands at 
issue to the City rather than incorporate them along with the rest of the Township. 

In an incorporation proceeding, Minn. Stat. § 414.02, subd. 3(a)(11), requires that 
the Administrative Law Judge consider whether services can best be provided by the 
proposed action or another type of boundary adjustment. The Administrative Law Judge 
has the authority to deny a petition for incorporation if some or all of the area identified 
would be better served by annexation to an adjacent municipality.339 The Administrative 

 
337 Test. of J. Edison. 
338 City of Princeton Evidentiary Testimony Opposing Baldwin Township Incorporation at 2. 
339 Minn. Stat. § 414.02, subd. 3(c). 



 

 43 

 

Law Judge may also exclude from incorporation property that would be better served by 
another unit of government.340 

Minn. Stat. § 414.02 does not provide a mechanism for annexation of land as a 
grant to another governmental unit. In contrast, in an annexation by order of this tribunal, 
the Administrative Law Judge is expressly authorized to initiate a proceeding for 
annexation to a different community upon finding that land would be better served by a 
governmental unit other than the one seeking annexation.341 If the legislature intended 
for the Office of Administrative Hearings to have authority to order an annexation in an 
incorporation proceeding, it could have expressly said so. It did not. 

This tribunal is an administrative agency. Administrative agencies are “creatures 
of statute,” and have only the powers given to them by the legislature.342 Minnesota’s 
legislature conferred jurisdiction over all boundary adjustment proceedings to the Office 
of Administrative Hearing, and established the legal standards for each type of boundary 
adjustment. The Administrative Law Judge is required to apply the law as written and may 
not create new standards or remedies not provided by the legislature. Therefore, the 
City’s request for a grant of Township lands is denied. 

Even if the Administrative Law Judge had authority to order annexation as 
requested by the City, the record does not support finding that property in the Township 
would be better served by annexation to the City. The Township and City spent a 
considerable amount of time at the hearing debating the relative number and quality of 
the services each of them provides. The City offers a full slate of services to its residents, 
but so does the Township. The Administrative Law Judge finds, on the whole, that the 
level of services each of them offers to residents is generally comparable. The City 
provides water and sewer service, and for the most part, the Township does not. But 
extension of these services is not a practical reality at this time, and may not ever be 
based on the issues identified at the hearing. Finally, residents of the Township who 
participated in this proceeding are universally and vehemently opposed to annexation. 
There is no basis in this record to conclude that the portion of the Township identified by 
the City as its desired annexation area would be better served by annexation over 
incorporation.343 

Finally, while the City provided a map showing the area it desired to annex, the 
City did not provide a legal description of the area. Under Minn. R. 6000.0800, a petition 
seeking approval of a proposed boundary adjustment must be accompanied by a 
geographical description of the subject area. In the absence of such a description, a 
petition must be denied because the proposed boundary lines cannot be accurately 
determined and incorporated into an order, or later recorded by a county in the property 
records. The City did not file a petition in this case, and it did not otherwise provide a legal 

 
340 Id., subd. 3(d). 
341 Minn. Stat. § 414.031, subd. 3(h). 
342 In re Hubbard, 778 N.W.2d 313, 318 (Minn. 2010). 
343 As noted above, the City and Township have agreed to annexation of a specific parcel of land to the 
City pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 414.0325. Annexation of that land is approved by separate Order issued 
simultaneously herewith. 



 

 44 

 

description in its submissions. Therefore, in addition to the other reasons listed for 
denying the City’s request, the record lacks a legal description sufficient to support an 
annexation order.  

II. Concerns Expressed by Township Residents 

This proceeding had an extraordinarily high level of participation by the public. The 
Administrative Law Judge commends residents of the Township for their engagement in 
this civic process. The Administrative Law Judge has carefully considered all comments 
submitted in this matter. 

Some residents of the Township who participated in this proceeding were 
concerned that the Town Board did not bring the issue of incorporation before them for a 
vote. Some commenters further asked that this proceeding be dismissed because they 
had not had an opportunity to vote on the issue. The Administrative Law Judge 
appreciates and understands the desire for an opportunity to address issues through the 
democratic process. 

The statute governing incorporation, however, does not require that a vote by the 
community be held before a township files a petition. The Administrative Law Judge does 
not have the authority to dismiss a valid petition for incorporation that is lawfully filed by 
a township’s board - as this one was - because residents did not vote on the issue 
themselves. Reaching such a result would be a reversible legal error. Further, the 
Township proved that it met the standards for incorporation. Therefore, based on the 
record and the law, the Petition must be approved. 

The Administrative Law Judge encourages residents of the Township to engage 
with the Town Board and to actively participate in the government of their new city. The 
Administrative Law Judge also encourages the Town Board to have meaningful 
discussions with Township residents about the concerns that members of the community 
raised in this proceeding. 

J. P. D. 



AGENDA ITEM 
Orrock Town Board 

 
 
 

Prepared By: 
Chris Weber, Clerk 

Meeting Date: 
07/24/2024 

Regular Agenda Item Item No. 

8A 
Item Description: 

2024 Tree Trimming RFQ 
Reviewed By:  N/A 

Reviewed By: Adams/Hassett/Weber 

 

ACTION REQUESTED 
Motion to solicit tree trimming proposals as presented 
 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION 
The proposed tree trimming request for proposal is based on the road tour, observations by Darryl Waletzko 

(when he was ditch mowing), Bryan Adams and Bob Hassett. 
 
 FINANCIAL IMPACT 

Cost of tree trimming 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
• 2024 Tree Trimming Request for Proposals 



Proposal Form 
Orrock Township Board 

Big Lake, Minnesota 
 

To the Orrock Township Board: Date:    
 
 
 

Pursuant to the request for proposal for providing all labor, materials, equipment, and supervision to trim 
trees and brush along the Township right of way per the specifications, the undersigned contractor, being 
familiar with all conditions affecting the cost of the work and materials, does hereby agree to furnish the 
required materials and do all work required to complete the construction for which this proposal is 
submitted, in accordance with the plans and specifications on file with the Orrock Township (the “Plans 
and Specifications”); and binds himself upon the acceptance of this proposal to execute a Contract, of 
which this proposal, and Plans and Specifications shall be part of the performing and completing of said 
work within the time requirements in the Contract, and at a price named in the schedules which follow, 
all of which are part of this proposal. 

 
The undersigned contractor understands that the Orrock Township Board reserves the right to accept or 
reject any or all proposals, and further reserves the right to make an award on any or all schedules of 
any proposal unless the contractor qualifies such proposal specific limitation. Price shall be submitted by 
August 26, 2024. 

 

 
Price to tree trim in areas a through h as defined in the technical specifications: 
 
$___________________________________       

 

 
Scheduled Start Date: _________________             Scheduled Completion Date: __________________              

 
 

 
 

Firm:    
 

Address:   
 
 
 

By:    
 
 

Title:    
 

Telephone Number:     
 
 
 
 



1. Technical specifications 
a. Contractor shall provide all labor, materials, equipment and supervision to trim the trees and brush within 

the Township road right of way (R/W). Tree trimming road project shall include the following roads: 
a. 234 Ave from CR 75to 185th St including spur going north from 234 Ave 
b. 261 Ave from CR 5 to end of Cul de sac 
c. 160 St from CR 4 south to end of Cul de sac 
d. 168 St north from 232 Ave to end of Cul de sac and 300 ft east on 232 Ave 
e. 1R 4 to end of asphalt 
f. 271 St east of CR 1 first 300’ entrance to Woodlands development 
g. All roads east of CR 15 and South of 231 Av within Orrock  township 

                     The attached Aerial map reflects the roads to have the trees trimmed and brushed. 
                  

b. In regard to trimming trees along township roads in this project, trees shall be trimmed to the sky The 
road R/W shall be defined as: 

1. Approximately 6 feet from the edge of township road surface  
2. If an obstruction (retaining wall, fence etc.) is within the 6 feet of the road surface, the obstruction 

shall be the edge of R/W. 
 

c.  Trees within this corridor shall be cut off within 1” of the ground. Trees to be removed in the corridor will 
be marked by Orrock Township.  

d. With trees outside this corridor with branched that extend into the corridor, trim branches to entire height 
above the township road. Tree branches extending into this corridor from trees outside the corridor area 
shall be removed at the corridor boundary unless adjacent property owner gives permission to remove 
branch at the trunk.  

e. All branches shall be chipped, hauled and disposed in a proper fashion. Salvageable logs (greater than 6” 
dia.) unless adjacent property owner wants this material, shall be trimmed to the trunk and hauled and 
disposed in a proper fashion. Orrock Township does not provide a disposal area. No burning will be 
allowed.  

f. Brush in the corridor area shall be chopped to within 2 inches of the ground. Brush and cut branch limbs 
shall be mechanical ground, hauled and disposed in a proper fashion.  

g. If buckthorn brush or trees are removed, stumps shall be strayed with Roundup or other chemical to kill 
the stump. 

h. Mowed lawns in the area where tree trimming has occurred shall be racked to remove all debris from the 
tree trimming operation and hauled and disposed in a proper fashion.  

i. Work shall not begin before October 15, 2024 and shall be completed by December 30, 2024. 
j. To inspect the tree trimming area, make arrangements with Chris Weber. Office  763-263-6411   

 
CONTRACTOR QUALIFICATIONS AND QUOTES 
Orrock Township requests that contractors interested in submitting quotes: 

1. Clearly outline (on the provided proposal quote form) total cost for the areas to be trimmed. 
2. Submit a summary of your experience and qualifications. 
3. Submit three account references that you currently service. 

a. Submit a certificate of liability insurance, naming Orrock Township as additional insured and 
meet the following liability limits if awarded the contract: 

b. $1.0 million per claimant 
c. $1.0 million per occurrence 

4. Submit a certificate of worker’s compensation insurance or a written statement of exemption 
specifically citing the statutory exemption under which you fall. 

 



165TH ST

17
0T

H 
ST

233RD AVE

239TH AVE

246TH AVE

18
0T

H 
ST

241 1/2 AVE

19
2N

D 
ST

259TH AVE

235TH AVE

268TH AVE

253 1/2 AVE

188TH ST
232 1/2 AVE18

2N
D S

T

233RD AVE

256TH AVE

251ST AVE

236TH AVE

248TH AVE

186
TH ST

DNR TR
L

118TH ST

245TH AVE

273RD AVE

172ND ST

271ST AVE

241ST AVE

190TH CT

16
1S

T S
T

246TH CIR

249TH AVE

183RD ST

158TH ST

19
1S

T S
T

230TH AVE

259TH AVE

15
9T

H 
ST

14
5T

H 
ST

248TH AVE

231ST AVE
232ND AVE

254TH AVE

189TH ST

16
9T

H 
ST

241ST AVE

243RD AVE

234TH AVE

258TH AVE
162ND ST

16
7 1

/2 
ST

177TH ST
244TH AVE

235
TH AV

E

246TH AVE

244TH AVE

147TH ST

N SAND DUNES RD

16
8T

H 
ST 16

6T
H 

ST

260TH AVE

243RD AVE

237TH AVE

247TH AVE

15
7T

H 
ST

18
7T

H 
ST

239TH AVE

263RD AVE

230TH AVE

DNR RD

163RD ST

DNR RD

147
TH

 ST

262ND AVE

261ST AVE
190

TH
 ST 16

8T
H 

ST

167TH ST17
0T

H 
ST

233RD AVE

240TH AVE

18
5T

H S
T

18
9T

H 
ST

228TH AVE

18
0T

H 
ST

HORSE CAMP RD

229TH AVE

17
6T

H 
ST

17
4T

H 
ST

162ND ST

14
3R

D 
ST

247TH AVE

16
0T

H 
ST

142ND ST

187
TH ST

238TH AVE

242ND AVE

249TH AVE

15
0T

H 
ST

DNR RD

257TH AVE

245TH AVE

232ND AVE

258TH AVE

262ND AVE

238TH AVE
181ST ST

19
1S

T S
T

DAY USE RD253RD AVE

255TH AVE

165TH STDNR RD

DNR RD

46

32

75

43

4

15

1

1

16

5

10

4

33
36

1
4

3 2

9 10 12
7

11

17 16
18

13 181314

20 23 24

19

27 26

36

61 5

6
1

34 35

12 87

1

36

23

34 35

28

33

4

29

32

6

31

15

2221

25 30

31

24
19

25 30

36 313231

5
6

Unnamed

Lake Ann

Eagle
Lake

Mud

Big
Mud Lake

Johnson
Slough

Pool 14

14
40

0

15
20

0

16
00

0

16
80

0

17
60

0

18
40

0

19
20

0

27700

22900

26900

26100

25300

24500

23700

Sherburne
National

Wildlife Refuge

Elk River

Orrock TownshipOrrock Township

Roads

0 10.5

Miles

Becker

Haven

Big Lake

Orrock

Palmer

Livonia

Elk River

BaldwinBlue HillSantiago

Clear Lake

City Street

Refuge Road
Forest Road

Township Road
County Road

County State Aid 
Highway (CSAH)

US Highway

Municipal State Aid 
Street (MSAS)

State Highway

Section Lines
Refuge

T 34 N. - R 27 W.T 34 N. - R 27 W.

Private Road

DISCLAIMER: Sherburne County does not warrant the accuracy nor the correctness
of the information contained in this map. It is your responsibility to verify the accuracy
of this information. In no event will Sherburne County be liable for any damages,
including loss of business, lost profits, business interruption, loss of business information
or other pecuniary loss that might arise from the use of this map or the information it
contains. Map information is believed to be accurate but accuracy is not guaranteed.
Any errors or omissions should be reported to Sherburne County Public Works.
Path: H:\GIS\GIS_Maps\InternetMaps\Orrock\Orrock.mxd

   Map Created:  6/27/2012

Private Land
Public Land

Sand Dunes State Forest

Brenda
Line

Deputy Clerk
Line

Deputy Clerk
Line

Deputy Clerk
Pencil

Deputy Clerk
Pencil

Deputy Clerk
Polygon

Deputy Clerk
Line

Deputy Clerk
Polygon

Deputy Clerk
Line

Deputy Clerk
Polygon

Deputy Clerk
Polygon

Deputy Clerk
Line

Deputy Clerk
Line

Deputy Clerk
Polygon

Deputy Clerk
Line

Deputy Clerk
Polygonal Line

Deputy Clerk
Line

Deputy Clerk
Line

Deputy Clerk
Line

Deputy Clerk
Line

Deputy Clerk
Polygon

Deputy Clerk
Line



AGENDA ITEM 
Orrock Town Board 

 
 
 

Prepared By: 
Chris Weber, Clerk 

Meeting Date: 
07/24/2024 

Regular Agenda Item Item No. 

8B 
Item Description: 

2025 Road Tour Report 
Reviewed By:  N/A 

Reviewed By: Bryan Adams/Chris Weber 

 

ACTION REQUESTED 
None – informational only 
 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION 
Bryan Adams has started a tracking form for the 2025 road tour, so that items that may need attention do not 

get missed.  These observations have been made by Bryan Adams, Darryl Waletzko and Bob Hassett. 
 
 FINANCIAL IMPACT 

None 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
• 2025 Road Tour Report (working) 



Orrock Township Annual Road Tour 2025

Location Gravel Rd Pothole Shouldering
Tree 
Trimming Misc Comments

235 Av & 189 St east of Cd 75 x

234 Av at 189 St & 188 St x

232 Av  189 St x

180 St south of Cr 4 x

Ann Lake landing x

245 Av west of CR5 x

18237  233 1/4 x drainage issue  solve with road reconstruction

18700   240 AV   dip in road  south side x Possible tree under road

18700 256 av   dip inroad north shoulder x Possible tree under road close to previous  repair

18200 181 st  dip in road  2 locations xx Possible tree under road north of  previous  repair

253 av east of CR4 xx along south shoulder

190 St north of 247 Av  east shoulder x east shoulder

180 st south of 253 Av close to cul de sac xx large ruts across road

180 st north of CR 4 to culde sac x

262 av north of CR 4 to end of culde sac x

167 St & 242 Av x

239Av & 185 St x

23223 145 St x

23612 183 St x clear Bruch around culvert ends , clean creek?

232Av & 188 st x Dredge storm water pond

187 st & 234 Av x ditch erosion

233 Av and DNR gravel road x Add gravel


	20240724 Agenda Item 7A.pdf
	ACTION REQUESTED
	BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION
	FINANCIAL IMPACT
	ATTACHMENTS

	Township PowerPoint Presentation - Orrock Township.pdf
	Orrock Township, Minnesota
	Audit Process and Opinion
	Required Communications
	Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting
	Minnesota Legal Compliance
	Slide Number 6
	Detailed Revenue Analysis
	Detailed Expenditure Analysis
	Slide Number 9
	Cash Trend Analysis
	Financial Highlights�Remaining Governmental Funds
	Cash Trend Analysis
	Questions?

	20240724 Agenda Item 7B.pdf
	ACTION REQUESTED
	BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION
	The draft Mississippi River St. Cloud Comprehensive Watershed (MRSC) Management Plan has been approved by their Policy Committee and is hereby submitted for the formal 60-day review period.  The plan is a large document, so please use the link to revi...
	The Mississippi River St. Cloud Comprehensive Watershed Management Plan (Plan) is a unifying water management strategy for the Mississippi River St. Cloud Watershed (Watershed). It was developed and will be implemented by local government units across...
	FINANCIAL IMPACT
	ATTACHMENTS

	20240724 Agenda Item 8A.pdf
	ACTION REQUESTED
	BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION
	FINANCIAL IMPACT
	ATTACHMENTS

	2024 Trimming Proposal Form.pdf
	CONTRACTOR QUALIFICATIONS AND QUOTES

	20240724 Agenda Item 7B.pdf
	ACTION REQUESTED
	BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION
	The draft Mississippi River St. Cloud Comprehensive Watershed (MRSC) Management Plan has been approved by their Policy Committee and is hereby submitted for the formal 60-day review period.  The plan is a large document, so please use the link to revi...
	The Mississippi River St. Cloud Comprehensive Watershed Management Plan (Plan) is a unifying water management strategy for the Mississippi River St. Cloud Watershed (Watershed). It was developed and will be implemented by local government units across...
	FINANCIAL IMPACT
	ATTACHMENTS

	20240724 Agenda Item 8B.pdf
	ACTION REQUESTED
	BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION
	FINANCIAL IMPACT
	ATTACHMENTS

	Orrock road tour  2025.pdf
	Sheet1

	20240724 Agenda Item 7C.pdf
	ACTION REQUESTED
	BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION
	On January 8, 2024, the Township filed Resolution No. 23-44 entitled In the Matter of the Petition of Baldwin Township for Incorporation Pursuant to Minnesota Statutes § 414.02, requesting an order of incorporation granting its Petition.
	ORDER HAS BEEN GRANTED
	1.The Amended Petition for Incorporation of Baldwin Township (I-75) is GRANTED.
	2. The Township shall hereby be incorporated as the City of Baldwin.
	3. The incorporated City of Baldwin shall consist of all property within the Township, as legally described in Finding No. 19 above.
	4.  Incorporation shall be effective upon the election and qualification of the new City Council as set out in Paragraph 6 of this Order.
	FINANCIAL IMPACT
	ATTACHMENTS




